
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Economy Committee 

Date Tuesday 18 June 2019 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/economy  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Léonie Cooper AM (Chair) 
Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
 

Caroline Russell AM 
Dr Onkar Sahota AM  
Fiona Twycross AM 
 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chairman of the Committee to deal with the 

business listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
 Monday 10 June 2019 

 
 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer; telephone: 020 7983 4616;  
Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk; minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
For media enquiries please contact: Alice Bell, Head of Assembly Communications; 
Telephone: 020 7983 44228; Email: alison.bell@london.gov.uk. If you have any questions about 
individual items please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/economy
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:alison.bell@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Economy Committee 
Tuesday 18 June 2019 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Clare Bryant, clare.bryant@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4616 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  

 

(b) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and 

 

(c) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Standing Delegation  
 
 The Committee is asked to note the following standing delegation of authority to 

the Chair of the Committee, which was agreed by the London Assembly at its 
Plenary Meeting on 6 June 2019: 

To delegate authority to Chairs of ordinary committees, sub-committees and 
working groups to agree, in consultation with the relevant party Group Lead 
Members and Deputy Chairs: 

(a) The detailed terms of reference for any investigation to be undertaken by the 

relevant committee, sub-committee or working group within its work 

programme as agreed by the GLA Oversight Committee, and any related 

project plans and arrangements for related site visits or informal meetings; 

and 

mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

(b) The topic and scope for any additional projects to be added to its work 

programme, where it is not practicable to secure prior approval from the 

GLA Oversight Committee and subject also to subsequent ratification by the 

GLA Oversight Committee. 
 
 

4 Minutes (Pages 5 - 64) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Committee held on 7 May 2019 to be signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 11 to 64 are attached for Members and 

officers only but are available from the following area of the Greater London Authority’s 

website: www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/economy  
 
 

5 Summary List of Actions (Pages 65 - 106) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Clare Bryant, clare.bryant@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4616 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from its previous meetings. 
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 61 to 98 are attached for Members and 
officers only but are available from the following area of the Greater London Authority's 
website: www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/economy  
 
 

6 Action Taken under Delegated Authority (Pages 107 – 114) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Clare Bryant, clare.bryant@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4616 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

(a) Note the recent action taken by the previous Chairman of the Economy 

Committee under delegated authority, namely to agree, in consultation with 

party Group Lead Members, a letter to the Mayor about tackling London’s 

disability employment gap and the letter attached at Appendix 1; and 

(b) Note the response to the letter from the Mayor attached at Appendix 2 of the 

report. 

 
 

  

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/economy
mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/economy
mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

7 Outsourcing and Procurement in London (Pages 115 - 118) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Aida Selmanovic, aida.selmanovic@london.gov.uk; 020 7984 2963 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 
(a) Note the report as background to the discussion with invited guests on 

outsourcing and procurement in London and note the subsequent discussion; 

and 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree an output from the meeting. 

  
 

8 Economy Committee Work Programme (Pages 119 - 122) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Aida Selmanovic, aida.selmanovic@london.gov.uk; 020 7984 2963 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the work programme for the remainder of 

the 2019/20 Assembly year. 
 
 

9 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for 9 July 2019 at 10.00am in the Chamber, 

City Hall. 
 
 

10 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:aida.selmanovic@london.gov.uk
mailto:aida.selmanovic@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Economy Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 18 June 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4616 

E-mail: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Economy Committee 
Date: Tuesday 7 May 2019 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Committee Room 5, City Hall, The 

Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/economy 

 

 
Present: 
Léonie Cooper AM (Chair) 
Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman) 
Caroline Russell AM 
Fiona Twycross AM 
Dr Onkar Sahota AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 An apology for absence was received from Shaun Bailey AM. 

 

1.2 The Chair thanked Susan Hall AM for all her work as Chair of the Committee during the 

2018/19 Assembly year. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

2.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

(b) That the non-pecuniary interest declared by Onkar Sahota AM, namely his 

appointment as a trustee for the Trust for London and his membership to 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/economy


Greater London Authority 
Economy Committee 
Tuesday 7 May 2019 

 

 
 

 

GMB Union, be noted. 

(c) That the non-pecuniary interest declared by Fiona Twycross AM, namely her 

membership to GMB Union, be noted. 

(d) That the non-pecuniary interest declared by Léonie Cooper AM, namely her 

membership to GMB Union, be noted. 

 

 
3   Membership of the Committee (Item 3) 

 
3.1 That the membership and chairing arrangements for the Economy Committee, as 

agreed at the Annual Meeting of the London Assembly on 2 May 2018, be noted as 
follows: 

 Léonie Cooper AM 

 Susan Hall AM 

 Shaun Bailey AM 

 Caroline Russell AM 

 Onkar Sahota AM 

 Fiona Twycross AM 

 
 
4   Terms of Reference (Item 4) 

 
4.1 That the terms of reference, as agreed at the Annual Meeting of the London 

Assembly on 2 May 2019, as set out at Agenda Item 4 for the meeting be noted. 

 
 
5   Standing Delegation (Item 5) 

 
5.1 Resolved:  

 
That the following standing delegation of authority to the Chair of the Committee, 
as agreed by the London Assembly at its Annual Meeting on 2 May 2019 and as set 
out below, be noted:  
 
To respond on the Committee’s behalf, following consultation with the lead 
Members of the party Groups on the committee or sub-committee, where it is 
consulted on issues by organisations and there is insufficient time to consider the 
consultation at a committee meeting. 

 
 
 
 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Economy Committee 
Tuesday 7 May 2019 

 

 
 

 

6   Minutes (Item 6) 

 

6.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 3 April 2019 be signed by the Chair as a 

correct record. 

 
 
7   Summary List of Actions (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

7.2 Resolved: 

 

That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Committee be noted. 

 
 
8   Low-paid Work and In-work Poverty in London (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on low-paid work and in-work poverty in London to the following guests: 

 Sam Gurney, London East and South East Regional Secretary Designate, Trades Union 

Congress; 

 Manny Hothi, Director of Policy, Trust for London; 

 Amy Hulme, Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation; 

 Tim Butcher, Chief Economist, the Low Pay Commission; and 

 Helen O’Connor, GMB Union. 

 

8.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached as Appendix 1. 

 

8.3 A copy of the presentation by the Director of Policy, Trust for London is attached as 

Appendix 2. 

 

8.4 The London East and South East Regional Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress 

agreed to provide the Committee with the following: 

 The 19 recommendations included in the Low Pay Commission report which show 

how workers rights can be better enforced across the UK; 

 Further details on the Taylor Review and what more it could have done; 

 The different sectors were apprentices are not reciving the National Minimum Wage; 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Economy Committee 
Tuesday 7 May 2019 

 

 
 

 

and 

 The six areas according to the Great Jobs Agenda which constitute a “decent” job.  

 

8.5 During the course of the discussion the Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage 

Foundation, agreed to provide the details of the profiles of employers that pay the London 

Living Wage and details of who pays the London Living Wage, including local authorities. 

 

8.6 The Director of Policy, Trust for London, agreed to provide the Committee with a link to the 

Policy in Practice dashboard, vhen it becomes availble.  

 

8.7 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the report and subsequent discussion be noted. 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree an output from the discussion. 

 
 
9   Economy Committee Work Programme (Item 9) 

 

9.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

9.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the remainder of the Committee’s meeting dates for the 2019/20 

Assembly year be noted. 

 

(b) That the topic, low-paid work and in-work poverty, for the meeting on           

18 June 2019 be noted.  

 
 
10   Date of Next Meeting (Item 10) 

 

10.1 The date of the next meeting of the Committee was confirmed as 18 June 2019 at 10.00am 

in the Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
11   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 11) 

 

11.1 There were no items of business that the Chair considered to be urgent. 

 
 

Page 8



Greater London Authority 
Economy Committee 
Tuesday 7 May 2019 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
12   Close of Meeting  

 

12.1 The meeting ended at 12.30pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer; telephone: 020 7983 4616; 

Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk; minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 
 

Appendix 1 
 

London Assembly Economy Committee – Tuesday, 7 May 2019 
 

Transcript of Item 8 - Low-paid Work and In-work Poverty in London 
 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Moving on to the substantive item, which is on low-paid work and in-work 

poverty, I would like to start by welcoming our guests.  I am going to start on the left and then move to the 

right.  That says nothing at all about your politics, just where you are geographically located in the room.  The 

first guest that I would like to welcome is Sam Gurney, who I want to say is from the Southern & Eastern 

Region of the Trades Union Congress (SERTUC), but that just means I am very old-fashioned and you are now 

from (London East and South) LESE? 

 

Sam Gurney (London East and South East Regional LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union 

Congress):  That is right.  I get it wrong as well.  LESE is London East and South East of England, which just 

about fits on a business card now.  Anyone who knows my predecessor will know that he still very much calls it 

‘SERTUC’. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  You are the Regional Secretary.  Thank you very much for coming, Sam.  We 

also have Manny Hothi, who is the Director of Policy from the Trust for London.  Thank you very much for 

being here.  We also have Amy Hulme, who is the Senior Programme Manager from the Living Wage 

Foundation.  Thank you very much for coming along.  Tim Butcher is the Chief Economist from the Low Pay 

Commission.  Thank you very much for being with us.  Then finally, we also have Helen O’Connor, who is from 

the GMB and has some specific experience relating to working in low-paid situations.  We will look forward to 

putting various different questions to all of you. 

 

We are going to have a presentation [Appendix 2 of the minutes] from Trust for London first of all. 

 

Manny Hothi (Director of Policy, Trust for London):  I will give you a brief overview of some of the data 

around low pay in London.  Much of this covers what was in the very good briefing but it sets out a narrative 

for you. 

 

As an overview, the story of low pay London is that since the mid-1990s there has been a growth in in-work 

poverty.  It is no longer about worklessness and poverty being the atypical situation for people who do not 

have much money.  It is about being in work and not having enough to make ends meet.  There has also been 

a well-documented stalling in household incomes over the past 15 years.  Combining that with inflation, pay 

has been squeezed and so people can buy less with their money.  There has been a post-crash increase in  

low-paid work and a concentration of low-paid jobs in certain sectors and places in London.  That has been 

seen and alongside that there has been an increase in involuntary part-time working - people not working as 

many hours as they want to - and also temporary working, well documented with the rise in the gig economy.  

As often is the case in these sorts of circumstances, there has been a disproportionate effect on certain groups, 

some minorities and disabled people. 

 

Starting off with the increase of in-work poverty, here, the two bars with the big red lines on them show the 

increase in the number of adults and children in households that are experiencing in-work poverty.  It has been 

a massive leap.  There have been lots of things driving that.  There have been some societal changes, 

macroeconomic changes, and political stuff around the welfare state and social security.  It has been a very 

turbulent period of time. 

Page 11



 
 

 

One of the interesting things to note here is that the decrease in children in workless families has been 

mirrored by an increase in children in working poor families.  The two things have balanced each other out in 

that respect.  There has also been a decrease in pensioner poverty, which is worth noting because it shows 

what can happen when the state does use the system of social security to maintain a decent income for 

citizens. 

 

There has been a well-documented stalling of household incomes.  This data comes from the Resolution 

Foundation report on living standards in London called London’s Stalling.  It shows that real pay at the 

moment is no better than it was 15 years ago for people across London.  Also, there has been an inflection 

point when median household incomes matched or for a short period of time were less than pensioner 

household incomes, which is counter to what has traditionally been the case.  It has disproportionately 

affected, again, some people.  The pay gap has been across the income spectrum, but it has affected women 

more strongly than some men.  What that means is that one in five Londoners is paid less than the Living 

Wage, which is what we would deem as what is required for a decent, basic standard of living.  It is about 

22.5% of households at the moment.  You can see an increase since, again, 2008 with a slightly bigger increase 

from 2011 onwards. 

 

The industries - that these jobs are concentrated on are hotels, restaurants, retail and leisure.  You can see 

particularly in the hotel and restaurant world that a large proportion of jobs - over 60% - are low-paid and pay 

less than the Living Wage and over 40% for those in retail.  Significant amounts of people working in those 

sectors just are not paid enough to get by. 

 

The gig economy has had lots of attention.  London has the highest number of self-employed people in the 

United Kingdom (UK).  The thing that is quite interesting to note here is that even though the transport bar is 

quite short, since 2007 there has been an 86% increase in self-employed workers in the transport industry.  

That has been the thing that captures imagination - delivery drivers, Uber drivers, Hermes and so forth.  There 

has also been an increase in involuntary part-time working.  The recession has seen people who have not been 

out of work; they have been in work but have not been able to find the number of hours that they want.  That 

work is often precarious. It is often low-paid and inflexible. 

 

Most of these residents, unsurprisingly, on low incomes are living in outer London.  It is a factor of the housing 

market and the reduction of social housing in inner London and people moving out to where it was affordable.  

Again, it is increasingly becoming unaffordable in outer London boroughs.  The same goes for the location of 

low-paid jobs.  In outer London boroughs there are high proportions of low-paid jobs than in inner London 

boroughs. 

 

There has been an increase for both men and women of low-paid work but the increase has been larger for 

women across both part-time and full-time working, and some ethnic groups are disproportionately impacted.  

You can look at this in two ways.  You can look at the blue bar, which is as a proportion of that group, or you 

can look at the orange bar, which is an absolute number.  They tell you two stories.  In absolute numbers, 

white British and other white people still absolutely have a higher number in low-paid work.  As a proportion of 

the population, it disproportionately impacts on Pakistani, Bangladeshi, African, Caribbean and black British 

people.  Disabled people are more likely to be low paid.  It is 27% for non-disabled and 37% for disabled, again 

across the board, and also in regard to educational levels. 

 

While we are looking at incomes, it is also important to look at the cost of living and the expenditure.  We 

know that transport, housing and childcare cost more in London, but - and this is again from the Resolution 

Foundation report on living standards - other things cost more in London too: alcohol, tobacco, the stuff to 

Page 12



 
 

furnish your house.  If you want to go out, if you want to go to restaurants, if you want to engage in leisure 

activities, it costs more in London than it does in other parts of the country. 

 

I want to talk a little about what we are doing to tackle some of these problems.  We have a whole strand of 

work - and we will do for the next five years - on tackling low-paid insecure work with a number of initiatives.  

Step Up is a way that we can help people in low-paid work progress to better-paid work, funding several 

organisations to try to support those individuals.  What we have learnt is that individual personalised support 

with work coaches that is tailored around the person and their needs is more likely to have a success, but, 

unfortunately, we did a control group study.  We put the people we were supporting against a control group 

who were not being supported and the study showed no statistically different outcomes across those groups.  

The number of people who progressed was the same for both of those. 

 

The Better Work Network, which brings together lots of the people in the city who are working on improving 

the situation around in-work poverty and low-paid insecure work, includes the Joseph Rowntree [Foundation], 

the Learning and Work Institute, the Living Wage Foundation and others. 

 

We are funding the Timewise Innovation Unit to work with employers to find new ways of providing good 

quality, part-time flexible working.  We fund lots of advice services around employment across the city 

including stuff around unpaid wages, which is a big problem for people on low incomes, providing lawyer 

support to help caseworkers have casework and get people through tribunals.  We fund lots of collective 

action.  The New Economics Foundation is bringing together unions and communities.  Unions 21 is bringing 

the co-worker platform from [the United States of America], which allows employers to start campaigns to 

improve workplace conditions, and the Independent Workers of Great Britain to provide legal advice to lots of 

people working in the gig economy. 

 

We also do stuff on the cost of living side.  We are working with Citizens UK to campaign for better quality, 

more affordable housing.  We have funded research - it has not been published yet - with the Centre for 

London on creating a more equitable transport system so that people on low incomes, wherever they are, can 

achieve similar outcomes to those on better incomes through the transport system.  We have invested in Fair 

by Design, which is led by the Barrow Cadbury Trust, a social investment fund that supports social businesses 

that are trying to tackle poverty premiums and trying to ensure that poor people on low incomes do not pay 

more for utilities, access to credit and so forth.  On childcare, we are about to publish some research by the 

Family and Childcare Trust which shows the provision of school-aged childcare and where there are gaps.  We 

can correlate gaps with areas of low income.  We are also funding the New Economics Foundation, which is 

setting up a parent-led childcare co-operative in New Cross, which could play a bit of a role in tackling the 

problem.  That is it. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  That covered an awful lot of ground.  Can I see if that sparked any questions 

amongst other Members of the Committee that they would like to pose very quickly to Manny now on specific 

aspects of the presentation?  The same question to our guests: does anyone have anything that they would 

like to quickly pick up with Manny from the presentation?  I am sure a lot of it is going to come up again 

during the rest of the morning.  If not, then I am going to move on to our questions. 

 

Thank you very much for that, Manny.  That has been a really good way into the discussion on both low pay 

and also in-work poverty.  How much does low pay affect levels of poverty? 

 

Manny Hothi (Director of Policy, Trust for London):  About two thirds of household income, for people 

in in-work poverty, is from earned income from jobs and about a third is from assistance from social security.  It 

has a significant impact.  I am sure we will talk about welfare and social security, but if you are on low pay, two 

Page 13



 
 

thirds of it is all the income you are getting.  If that pay is not at all correlated with the cost of living in London 

- like the London Living Wage is - then housing costs, transport costs and childcare costs are unaffordable. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Yes.  One of the shocking things that I have become aware of is the growth in 

people who are working and have been using food banks, which is so surprising.  A lot of the things that came 

out of your presentation seem to be hinting that that is a huge issue with involuntary part-time and so on and 

so forth.  Why do you think the proportion of low pay varies so much by sector and industry? 

 

Manny Hothi (Director of Policy, Trust for London):  I will pass on to others in a second, but it is business 

models, essentially, and margins.  These businesses are choosing to pay low wages because that is how they 

operate their businesses.  There are thousands of businesses that have come through the Living Wage 

Foundation and are choosing a different way and they believe there is a different business model and a 

different business case for them to make. 

 

What is most interesting about the Living Wage - and sorry I am talking about the Living Wage when there is 

someone here who can talk better about it - is that it grew during a time of recession.  It grew during a time 

when businesses were being squeezed and when retail and hospitality were being squeezed, but those 

businesses were choosing to pay their workers a Living Wage because they felt that there was a business case 

for it, essentially. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  What do these variations mean for how we tackle low pay in London?  I want to 

come to you on that, Sam. 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  To build on what Manny was saying, 

when you look at the sectors in particular, there is a fairly direct correlation there between the sectors that 

have business practices that absolutely are predicated on driving down pay and other conditions and the 

sectors that have the lowest union densities.  If we look at hospitality and catering in London, if we look at 

retail, despite big strides by some of the unions in retail; in social care, where in the public sector you have 

quite strong unionisation rates but in private sector social care we are much weaker.  You can see a correlation 

if you look at figures internationally as well.  You have seen a fall in bargaining coverage in sectors that have 

never had it or where it has been reduced and sectors that have poor terms and conditions.  There is an 

absolute direct correlation. 

 

As you would expect me to say - and I suspect my GMB colleagues will come in - one of the key things is to 

rebuild workers’ ability to build on the base we have, which is the National Minimum Wage and the London 

Living Wage, which are incredibly important.  There is a baseline.  As we know, we have 700,000 workers in 

London who are below the London Living Wage itself, but even after that you want to be building on that to 

get a fair rate for the job.  We have, yes, huge swathes of our economy in London that are predicated on poor 

terms and conditions.  That is what we need to be challenging and where we need to see work from the 

Assembly and the Mayor to work with us and all of the organisations that are here to help challenge that. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Can I bring you in here, Helen?  We were talking there about the rise of the gig 

economy, but there has also been a rise in outsourcing as well. 

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  That is exactly what I want to talk about.  I want to 

talk about outsourcing, the impact it is having on pay in the public sector specifically, and what we are trying 

to do to challenge some of that as the GMB. 

 

Page 14



 
 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  It is not just in the gig economy.  It is also potentially quite rife in outsourced 

areas. 

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  It is rising. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Does that sit alongside a lower level of union membership that Sam was just 

referring to? 

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  Yes, it does.  If we had a higher density, we would be 

more effective in challenging it at the moment.  Workers are joining in the hospitals.  I organise specifically in 

south London hospitals amongst caterers, cleaners and porters.  They are joining and they are going on 

demonstrations across the hospitals.  We are building all the time and we have to challenge it because people 

are literally doing two jobs to survive.  They are going to food banks, like you said.  I will talk about that a bit 

more in a bit, but it is pretty dire for people. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Do you think we are seeing a change in the places where poverty is rife in 

London or do you think it is present everywhere but there are, if you like, denser spots?  That seemed to be 

really what you were saying, Manny. 

 

Manny Hothi (Director of Policy, Trust for London):  Yes.  There has been a narrowing of the gap.  

Traditionally, 20 or 30 years ago, poverty was seen as an inner London thing and outer London was seen as the 

more affluent in the suburbs.  There has been a narrowing of that gap and it is becoming much closer.  Poverty 

is mirrored between inner and outer London.  A lot of that is a function of the housing market.  What we 

cannot say for certain is that it is people who are being forced out of inner London to outer London.  It could 

be people who are living in inner London but rents have gone up and they are being pushed into poverty, for 

instance. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  All right.  Which Londoners would you say are most affected by in-work poverty 

and what are the reasons for that?  I will start with you, Manny, and then I will just bring in anyone else who 

would like to comment on that. 

 

Manny Hothi (Director of Policy, Trust for London):  We have seen from some of the data that there is a 

disproportionate effect on some groups: Pakistani and Bangladeshi communities, some black Afro-Caribbean 

communities, black British, and also disabled people are disproportionately affected and there is some impact 

on women as well. 

 

Then there is the sectoral analysis.  London’s labour force has increased largely through migration in the last 

five or 10 years or so.  People coming into the city to work in those industries are being paid less. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Do you want to add anything to that, Sam? 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  Just a couple of points.  One would 

be on where and, to really reinforce Manny’s point, what we have seen is that spread across the whole of 

London.  For the statistics, we look very heavily at the Trust for London stats, as well as Greater London 

Authority (GLA) stats, but do our own research as well.  We had a story last year where we did a breakdown of 

all 32 boroughs and the City [of London], which showed that across 31 of those 33 boroughs we have seen a 

real-terms pay-fall since 2008.  Manny referred to that.  It is much starker in London than anywhere else in the 

country, but it has happened everywhere.  The really interesting thing was that that was across every borough, 

as I said, with two exceptions.  We are still trying to work out why.  Southwark and Merton were the two 

Page 15



 
 

exceptions.  We have seen that real-terms pay fall across the whole piece.  Yes, people are being moved out, as 

we know, from inner London to other borough 

s, but actually the figures in your presentation show all of the boroughs.  There are serious bits across every 

single bit of our capital.  It is geographically spread. 

 

I will just take the opportunity very quickly on the outsourcing point and I know Helen is going to come back 

to this.  I have two examples where we are seeing workers who were previously in fairly good quality paying 

jobs, which were admittedly outsourced but where now you have companies who are driving it down.  We have 

a dispute - hilariously - at the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS), the Government 

ministry responsible for these standards, where their outsourced staff - cleaners, caterers, security, post room - 

are not being paid the London Living Wage.  That is the Government department responsible for these terms 

and conditions.  They have been on six days of strike action already.  On May Day we had - a different 

company - the Foreign Office where, again, staff previously had been on fairly decent terms or conditions but 

now all of the support staff functions at the Foreign Office have had that taken away.  They are now on strike.  

We are seeing this across swathes of the private sector but also spreading into the public sector as a direct 

result of outsourcing and as a direct result of the business practices of some of those companies. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Yes.  I do fear that we have talked a lot about the gig economy and we know 

about the situation there.  I personally do not feel that we are sufficiently talking about outsourced jobs and 

roles and then being on very poor terms and conditions. 

 

I do not know whether anyone else wanted to comment on my question about the Londoners who are most 

affected and the reasons for this.  Are there any of you who want to comment? 

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  In our experience, it is primarily migrant workers - 

Africans, Asians - across the hospital sites who are working and a lot of women as well. 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  To add to that, if you are working 

part time, you are three times more likely to be paid less than the Living Wage.  If you are young, if you are 18 

to 21, you are nearly 70% more likely to be paid less than the Living Wage.  If you are from a black, Asian and 

minority ethnic (BAME) background or if you are a woman, you are in one of the areas most affected by low 

pay in London. 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  The Trades Union Congress (TUC) 

research would back all of that up in terms of the disproportionate impact on BAME communities, migrant 

workers from various backgrounds and also women.  We have referred already to things like additional 

transport, childcare and other caring costs, and it does still fall disproportionately on those groups.  You have 

other factors as well as the basic low pay, which is impacting more on those groups.  It is very clear from the 

statistics. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Do you think the introduction of the National Living Wage has made an impact 

on low-paid work and does it go far enough to help those in poverty?  Are we differentiating here maybe 

between the impact elsewhere in the country and the impact in London, which is my concern.  I can see a lot of 

nodding.  Can I start at this end and then work along? 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  Clearly, as we know, because of the 

disproportionate living costs in London, we are very pleased that the National Minimum Wage and National 

Living Wage have gone up and we are calling for higher increases.  It just does not impact as much in London 

because of the additional costs that our people have; hence the importance of the London Living Wage as a 

Page 16



 
 

baseline for us.  It is very much as a baseline.  Yes, we welcome the increases and they are important, but we 

have issues around enforcement and the lack of it.  We had a story out two weeks ago looking at the figures 

on enforcement of the Minimum Wage and the huge gaps that we still have there.  It is not possible to live on 

that in London in any meaningful way. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  No.   

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  It is a welcome pay rise for lots of 

low-paid workers.  Millions of people have a pay raise every time the Minimum Wage increases.  However, 

there is a gap between the Minimum Wage and what you actually need to be able to live and in London that 

looks like about £4,500 a year annually if you are working full-time.  It is not a small amount of money for 

people on low pay.  The biggest pressures on the London rate that make it more than the UK rate are housing, 

childcare and transport.  We have a higher rate in London because those pressures push up the rate there.  The 

National Minimum Wage is increasing, and it is welcome that it is, but it does only apply if you are over 25, 

which links to my previous point about how young people are paid a lot less and they still have the same costs 

of living as if they were over 25.  There is definitely more to be done. 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  The National Living Wage was introduced in 2015.  

It caused an immediate increase of 50 pence per hour for those aged 25 and over.  Prior to that, the National 

Minimum Wage had increased since it was introduced in 1999.  It had increased faster than average earnings 

and, throughout the recession, it increased at a higher rate than average earnings such that it went from being 

about 46% of median earnings in 1999 when it was introduced to around 52.5% of average earnings in 2015 

prior to the introduction of the National Living Wage.  It is now 59% of median earnings.  There have been 

huge increases in the National Living Wage at the same time as average earnings have not increased.  Average 

earnings are still 6% below of what they were in 2008.  The National Minimum Wage and the National Living 

Wage are substantially higher than what they were in 2008 in real terms.  There has been a squeezing of the 

earnings distribution. 

 

When the National Minimum Wage was introduced back in 1999, there were two concerns raised about its 

introduction.  One was that it would lead to job loss with -- 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  I thought it was going to lead to the end of the world.  There were so many 

people who said that, absolutely, the world was going to collapse. 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  With quotes of 2 million jobless, yes.  The other 

was that it was going to lead to a wage-price spiral that reflected what had happened in the 1970s.  Neither of 

those things came to pass.  There is very little evidence of job loss.  There was some squeeze in the 

differentials but very limited evidence of any spill-over effects or knock-ons further up the wage distribution. 

 

The evidence on what the Minimum Wage did is that it seems to have substantially increased the wages of the 

lowest paid, both in hourly terms and in weekly terms, although there has been some reduction in hours for 

minimum-wage workers. 

 

There has been a squeeze in profits, although in part that is the intention: to transfer some money from 

employers to workers.  There has been some evidence of passing that on in prices in non-tradable sectors.  By 

‘non-tradable’, I mean internationally non-tradable where prices have not been able to be passed on.  There 

are a lot of manufacturing and agricultural products where you have a world price and so it is more difficult to 

pass on.  In consumer industries - bars, hospitality, restaurants, etc - it is easier to add 5 pence to a dish. 

 

Page 17



 
 

We have seen some evidence about some positive correlation with productivity, although very limited impacts 

on training, but we have found changes in pay structures and reductions in hierarchies and pay zones.  For 

example, if you take the supermarket sector, there used to be separate rates for trolley collecting, shelf 

stacking and cashiering.  Over time, those three pay rates have merged into one.  In terms of reducing those 

hierarchies, it has also led to some concern about progression and how people then move on up the ladder if 

those rungs in the ladder are removed.  That is a dilemma that the Low Pay Commission has to balance in 

terms of increases in the Minimum Wage against the impacts of it.  We have also seen reductions in non-wage 

benefits, less generous staff discounts such as supplementing meals at work and various things. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Gosh, you almost mentioned luncheon vouchers.  Yes, that was very interesting 

because it sounds as though it has squeezed up from the bottom but has not created the spiral up at the top.  

There has actually been a de-layering of different roles and bringing them together so that there is more of a 

squeeze in the middle. 

 

How good is being able to identify in-work poverty if you are looking at people and saying that they are 

earning below the London Living Wage?  Is that a good indicator point or are we still seeing people suffering 

in-work poverty who are earning the London Living Wage and are therefore above it?  Is that a point at which 

we need to focus or do you find people who are earning the London Living Wage and are suffering from in-

work poverty?  I am going to start with you, Manny. 

 

Manny Hothi (Director of Policy, Trust for London):  There are lots of different ways to do that.  There is 

the household average income measure, which is the one that is used for poverty, and then there is the Living 

Wage measure, which shows what we would class as low pay. 

 

There is also something else called the minimum income standard, which is in the research we fund through 

Loughborough University.  The minimum income standard takes a bunch of members of the public and puts 

them in a room and asks what people need to live a minimally acceptable standard of living in this city and also 

across the UK.  They will talk through every aspect of a household’s life and will look at different types of 

household composition.  Then the researchers will go off and cost up everything in a very detailed budget in a 

spreadsheet and say, “This is how much it costs to live what the public think is a minimally acceptable standard 

of living”.  In London, four in ten do not meet what the public would generally think is the minimum standard 

of living.  Benefits, if you have the full £23,000, cover half of it or a quarter of it depending on your household 

composition.  It just not enough. 

 

There are lots of different ways of looking at it.  The Living Wage is attached to the cost of living.  It can get 

you right at the bottom, but if you actually speak to members of the public it is higher than that. 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  Just to add to that, the minimum 

income standard that is produced by Loughborough University underpins the Living Wage rate.  It is central to 

both the UK Living Wage and the London Living Wage rates.  We use that social consensus.  It is not 

aspirational.  It is above the poverty level, what you need to be able to earn to have that decent standard of 

living.  It should be lowest, the minimum that you should pay your staff. 

 

Our role in this has always been to encourage employers to voluntarily pay that rate as a minimum.  We have 

seen 5,000 businesses across the UK, large and small, pay that rate to their staff and also, importantly, thinking 

about subcontracted and outsourced staff, to their third-party staff as well when they are providing them with 

labour.  It covers where the low pay is and where we know low pay is when you are outsourcing. 

 

Page 18



 
 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Would you say that the minimum income standard is a better place to be 

looking?  I just want to be absolutely clear: it does not include the aspirational holiday to Mauritius, the 

Maldives or any other tropical island beginning with any other letter of the alphabet.  It is an actual set of 

things that are more basic than that.  That would be a better place for us to be looking?  I was very interested 

in what Tim [Butcher] was saying about people who are above the Living Wage but perhaps their salaries have 

been stagnating, whereas the Living Wage has been coming up. 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  Pay is one part of the puzzle and 

it is not the only part.  The number of hours a person works is important.  The security of their job is also 

important.  The impact of Universal Credit and the welfare changes and all of those things make up the 

impacts of low pay in the UK.  When I talk to businesses, I say to them, “You should not really look at just pay 

on its own.  You should be looking at how many hours you are offering your staff, whether that is consistent, 

whether your staff are underemployed and if you need to offer more, what training you are offering them so 

that they do not stay at that low pay level for 10 years or more”.  The Resolution Foundation work on this said 

that four in 10 were still in low pay after 10 years.  There are different parts to this conversation. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Do you think there is any data that we are missing that would help us identify or 

understand which households are at risk of in-work poverty more clearly or have we just got the data but it is 

all in different formats or different places? 

 

Manny Hothi (Director of Policy, Trust for London):  We have lots of data.  We have all come prepared 

with fact sheets for you because we could reel it off.  There is something coming out for London that is being 

developed by an agency called Policy in Practice, which is very deeply involved with local authorities and 

supporting them on welfare reform.  There will be a dashboard - I think it is live now and I can send a link 

afterwards - which can show you borough by borough how many people are facing a cash shortfall at the 

moment and how many people are likely to be facing a cash shortfall.  A lot of that is using the data local 

authorities have, doing some analytics work on it and projecting it forward and so it is quite clever, but it does 

not have data for all of the boroughs out there.  There is lots of data.  It is the solution that is hard work. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  It is bringing it together in one place that makes it more meaningful, although I 

have to say about the headline of saying “a borough” that I do not like the expression but the Lower Layer 

Super Output Area (LSOA) is probably more accurate.  Wandsworth is next to Richmond in terms of per capita 

income and so it looks like everything is really happy in Wandsworth, but that is because lots of people in 

Putney are paid huge amounts of money.  Come to Tooting where Pakistani and Bangladeshi taxi drivers in the 

gig economy live in greater numbers and it is a very different story.  The headline around the boroughs is 

possibly slightly misleading. 

 

Manny Hothi (Director of Policy, Trust for London):  Policy in Practice does allow you to go down to 

[borough] wards as well. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  That would be much better.  Tim, sorry, I interrupted. 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  I just wanted to reiterate what I said.  It is really 

important to distinguish between weekly and hourly earnings.  When people talk about a minimum living 

income, they normally think of it in weekly or monthly terms.  We set a National Minimum Wage purely in 

hourly terms.  The National Living Wage is a misnomer.  It is a higher National Minimum Wage because it is set 

with the labour market, productivity and affordability of businesses in mind.  It is not set with any 

consideration of the ability of workers to meet their needs.  If you look at the hourly-paid, most of the hourly-

paid are minimum-wage workers.  When you look at the weekly-paid, they are not.  The bottom of the weekly-

Page 19



 
 

paid distribution combines lots and lots of different types of workers, many on much higher rates of pay than 

the Minimum Wage and well above the London Living Wage or the UK Living Wage, but it depends on how 

many hours you work.  Even if you get paid £100 an hour, unless you get sufficient numbers of hours a week, 

you are not going to be able to live. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  The involuntary part-time is a very important issue. 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  Thinking back about poverty 20 or 30 years ago, 

the groups that were most likely to be in poverty were pensioners and workless households.  It was much less 

likely if you were in work.  With the triple lock pensions have been to some extent protected over the last 20-

odd years and the number of workless households has fallen quite dramatically across the whole of the UK, but 

we have seen a big increase in in-work poverty.  It depends on how many hours the household is working.  It 

depends on the household circumstances and family circumstances. 

 

We know that one of the big drivers of poverty is housing, childcare and transport, which setting an hourly rate 

does not really take into account.  If you had an hourly rate for a Living Wage, you would perhaps be going 

down the route of saying that people who are married and have children should get paid more than single 

people in order for that to be reflected in what they need to live.  We have always argued at the Low Pay 

Commission - and the Government when it was introduced argued - that the Minimum Wage is part of a 

strategy to make work pay.  Part of that strategy was to introduce a floor below which wages could not fall and 

then, for those in need, based on their household and family circumstances, it was topped up by in-work 

benefits, tax credits, working tax credits, child benefits, disability benefits, etc.  That was how you then got 

those households above any poverty line. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  All right, the two thirds around the pay and the one third around the additional 

benefit.  This is my final question before we move on to some of my colleagues, who I am sure are chomping at 

the bit now to come in with some questions. 

 

Are there any other aspects of what you are being paid that impact on low pay - for example, access to and 

length of sickness pay, flexible working, pension schemes, holiday pay - that should also be included in this 

discussion about how we understand how pay or lack of pay contributes to in-work poverty?  I can see Helen 

nodding.  Did you want to come in? 

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  Yes.  We have an issue with outsourced workers.  

They are outsourced to a private company called ISS and they generally tend to be hospital cleaners, caterers, 

porters and security staff.  What they do is they do not pay sick pay from day one if somebody is directly 

employed on their contract and so we have a two-tier workforce.  We have some workers on National Health 

Service (NHS) terms and conditions.  They get sick pay from day one and they are OK, but if you are directly 

employed and you are coming into the hospital as a new porter, you will not get sick day from day one.  Some 

of these private providers do not even have a sick pay scheme at all and people have to rely on statutory sick 

pay, which is between £92 and £118 a week.  You certainly would not pay rent on that. 

 

We had a case of a worker in Kingston Hospital who had a stroke last year.  He was off work for six months and 

received statutory sick pay.  That was all he got.  His colleagues had to have a whip-around for him because he 

would not be able to survive.  He had had a stroke.  It was not his own fault.  The company did nothing.  It was 

an appalling lack of duty of care to that employee. 

 

Page 20



 
 

We have also come across people having cancer treatment and, again, being harassed with letters calling them 

to disciplinary meetings.  The employers know that they have a serious illness.  Again, they are getting no sick 

pay. 

 

Some companies have an accrual scheme.  If you put in one full month of work, then you will accrue one sick 

day, two months two sick days, but you still have a three-day wait to get sick pay should you fall ill.  Our 

argument to them is that it is not good for the business because, if I have 12 sick days and have to wait three 

days to get sick pay, it would probably take another extra few days to get the pay.  It is a disincentive for 

people to come into work.  The other thing is that these workers are so low paid that they cannot afford to 

have an unpaid day and basically it causes them to go into the hospital when they are ill.  They are in a hospital 

environment and it is a cross-infection risk to the public. 

 

We are so concerned about this happening in hospitals up and down the country that we have taken this to 

Government ministers who have agreed to look into it because they do not even realise what is going on.  We 

have taken it to the hospital trusts in Kingston particularly.  We have sat down with them.  We have explained 

our concerns and to the company.  There are lots of sick pay schemes they could implement that would not 

break the bank, but they do not want to pay sick pay from day one.  It is a real concern for us in GMB. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  There is something really crazy about the idea of running a hospital and then 

having people who are coming into clean it who are so ill that they are then going to spread germs around the 

rest of the hospital and make people who are there, who are probably physically vulnerable anyway, more ill 

whilst they are performing cleaning duties. 

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  Serving meals as well, do not forget. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  I am going to try to not go into the wider issues that you just touched on there 

and try to keep focused on low pay, but it is quite clear from what you are saying that the arrangements 

around sickness pay are an absolute driver towards in-work poverty and some serious problems and issues 

there.  I can see that Sam might want to widen it out to some other areas as well. 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  If I could just add to that, we will 

probably come back to the gig economy, but we are talking about most business models, which are predicated 

on driving down terms and conditions.  The issue is for people who are in bogus self-employment.  There is lots 

of very good self-employment in London, but we think that about half of it would be forms of what we would 

term ‘bogus self-employment’. There are lots of people in the gig economy whom we would class as being 

workers and are not classed.  Obviously, they are not getting at the moment any access to sick pay, holiday pay 

or any of the other additional conditions, certainly not pensions contributions.  There is a ticking time-bomb 

there.  We are looking at large numbers of workers in the capital who just do not have, as we discussed, any 

disposable income and are clearly not going to be putting any other money aside for pensions.  They might 

have the state provision but nothing on top of that.  For lots of these companies, even companies that in many 

ways seem like better employers, exactly as Tim [Butcher] said, in order to meet some of the increases in the 

National Living Wage they changed other terms and conditions.  There is the example across retail of the big 

supermarket chains closing down their staff canteens and so they had an increase in their hourly rate but were 

having to pay for their lunch in addition.  It does not sound like much to some, but if you are looking at £4 or 

£5 a day for that, it is an hour’s wages for many people, particularly people who are earning the under-25 

Minimum Wage.  You have all of these knock-on effects that are slightly hidden but are absolutely what our 

union members in London will be finding and certainly people who are not members of a union even more. 

 

Page 21



 
 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  Also, the other thing we are finding with the 

outsource companies is lots of pay errors.  They are so common in fact that they have a whole pay query 

system.  What that means is for workers low-paid and they have a pay error being made on top of that and 

then they are having to go through this bureaucracy to get their pay back and that will generally happen in the 

next pay cycle.  It is happening across the board on a regular basis.  You can imagine how that could impact 

people’s bills, people’s council tax, etc, all the things they have to pay. 

 

The other thing that has happened very recently as well is that a private company called ISS changed its pay 

cycles.  In doing that, it withheld pay from the hourly-paid workforce for up to three weeks.  It is going on 

right now.  They offered these workers loans of their own wages to be paid back in a very short period of time.  

We asked them to advance wages.  They would not do it.  We are in a situation where some workers could not 

even access the loans since they cut off the application date for the loans.  We have had to provide food banks 

on some of the hospital sites where ISS is operating.  The union has had to do that because workers are so 

desperate. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  That is absolutely shocking. 

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  We have had a porter who has not eaten for three 

days.  That is an example of one worker and how he has been impacted.  He is the only breadwinner in the 

household with children.  People are in a desperate struggle and these companies are not listening to us when 

we are trying to make points or suggest what they should be doing to mitigate against this.  We have no 

objection to a company changing its pay cycles and we understand the reasons why they have to do it.  It is 

just what they are putting people through to make these changes. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Yes, everyone understands that businesses sometimes need to do that, but 

there are ways and ways to do it.  What you just described is quite shocking. 

 

I am now going to move on to Caroline, who is going to ask the next batch of questions.  Thank you very much 

for where we have got to so far.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I would like to start with Amy.  How does the London Living Wage Foundation work 

with employers to increase the number of people who are paid the London Living Wage? 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  We are very business-facing.  The 

Living Wage Foundation was set up to celebrate employers who pay the voluntary Living Wage at the higher 

rate of £10.55 in London and £9 outside of London.  We give them a Living Wage logo if they sign up with us 

and say they pay all of their directly employed staff the Living Wage.  We have a plan to move all of our 

third-party staff who provide us with a service - talking about your outsourced cleaners, caterers, security - 

they need to be moved up to the Living Wage over time as a contract is due to be renewed or there is a break 

clause within that contract.  That means we capture where we know there is low pay, particularly cleaning, 

catering and security. 

 

Then, as an organisation, we focus very specifically on a place-based approach.  In different cities and regions 

of the UK, we focus only the largest employers in those places.  If you think about universities, local 

authorities, sports-related clubs, cultural institutions and transport hubs, we know that when we target those 

employers and when they sign up as Living Wage employers, there is a ripple effect across the country and 

across that place.  They typically will outsource some of their work to local companies, which means then you 

have local companies also paying the Living Wage. 

 

Page 22



 
 

There is a promotional aspect to it as well.  When an employer signs up as a Living Wage employer, we 

encourage them to publicly talk about it.  They are on our website.  It is a public commitment that they make 

to their staff and also to the community that they work in to say, “We are paying our staff a socially acceptable 

and recognised standard of pay as a minimum”, and we will continue to do that.  It is a long-term commitment. 

 

We have done some research and what we have found is that there is a financial impact of paying the Living 

Wage in a place.  I have some stats here.  If a quarter of the low-paid workers in the whole of the UK were 

moved up to the Living Wage, it would deliver economic growth worth £560 million to the UK.  That is on 

average a £1,700 pay rise for each low-paid person.  Also, it would deliver £350 million in tax receipts and 

benefits back to the Treasury, which is a good economic space and conversation and argument to increase 

wages.  In London, if we were thinking about London specifically, the London economy would grow by £294 

million.  That is a conservative estimate.  Only a quarter of low-paid workers would need to see a pay rise up to 

the Living Wage to see that.  Workers on average would benefit by £2,700 a year and so it has a huge impact.  

If you pay the Living Wage in a place, you will see some real impact to the economy. 

 

Alongside working with and trying to sign up what we call ‘anchor institutions’, large organisations, it is really 

important to us that the unseen workers are seen, which is why we include outsourcing in what we do.  I have 

just done a process of looking at some freedom of information requests and what we do not see in those are 

the third-party stuff.  It is quite difficult to get information.  It is like an unseen problem of low pay.  It is 

important to us that we continue to move in that space. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  If we have all these benefits that you have just set out, overall economic benefits and 

also the benefits for those hidden workers, the outsource workers, why do employers resist signing up for 

paying the London Living Wage?  What are the reasons that they cite for not doing it? 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  I hear lots of reasons.  Ultimately 

it comes down to cost.  Where we see low pay in particular - and Sam [Gurney] mentioned it earlier - with the 

business model of lots of our lowest-paying industries like retail, hospitality and social care, they are not set up 

to pay the highest wages possible.  They are based on the lowest margins for wages as they can manage. 

 

I guess the flip side of that conversation is why employers do sign up.  There are short-term and long-term 

benefits to paying a real Living Wage.  The short-term are predominantly for the workers.  The improvement in 

pay means that you are happier, healthier and able to spend more time with your family if you do not have to 

work multiple jobs.  Maybe you need one job rather than two or two rather than three.  That is why the Living 

Wage campaign was started.  We were working for low-paid workers in east London.  It is not rocket science.  If 

you have happier, healthier staff, they work better and they work harder.  They are at work when they are at 

work and they are not thinking about how they are going to pay rent or pay for their food. 

 

The long-term benefits are for the business.  The impact of the workers being at work and being fulfilled and 

seeing that their employer values them means that the employer sees an impact in a reduction of staff turnover 

rates and sickness absence and an improvement in things like relationships between staff and management.  

Some of our employers - anecdotally because it is quite difficult to measure - have seen improvements in 

productivity and all of those long-term benefits, including the brand benefit of being associated with the 

Living Wage.  When employers put the whole of that business case together - because some of it is financially 

measurable and some of it is not - it makes a good enough case to say, “We are going to invest in the biggest 

asset that we have, which is our people”.  The over 5,000 businesses we have take that line, “They are our 

biggest asset and we want to live our values out and this is how we are going to do it”. 

 

Page 23



 
 

Caroline Russell AM:  One of the examples that hit the press a little while ago was Waterstones, which 

responded, “If you raise the bottom level really significantly, then everyone all the way up the company has to 

go up and then we go bust”.  Do you think that the London Living Wage could be part of reducing the gap 

between the highest and the lowest paid so that we have a smaller gap from the highest paid to the lowest 

paid in a company right up to the chief executive and so that the London Living Wage is about making sure 

that everyone can live well rather than seeing it as part of a linear thing that is stuck on what was before?  Do 

you think employers get that or do you think that they are trying to do what that Waterstones spokesperson 

was talking about and seeing it completely within the current linear progression? 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  The Living Wage has a role in 

making our economy more equal and, ultimately, it is about the lowest paid being able to have a decent 

standard of living.  The businesses that I work with are big retailers: Lush, Ikea, Majestic Wine.  They have all 

seen this and said, “What it is not going to do is mean we go bust.  We are going to see it as an investment”.  I 

was talking to a couple of them over the last couple of weeks.  Lush and BrewDog, for example, put the Living 

Wage in place when they were not making any money and now they are both thriving in a retail economy that 

is quite challenging.  They have not said, “We would have to raise it all the way up and it is going to exacerbate 

everything”, but it is up to the business how they manage their differentials and what they do.  The ultimate 

reason for their Living Wage Foundation and the Living Wage to be there is to lift the lowest paid up to a 

socially acceptable standard of living. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  You have just mentioned a range of different kinds of sectors from Ikea to Lush.  Are 

there particular sectors that you are targeting to get them to pay the London Living Wage that are not at the 

moment that you think could make a real difference if they embraced it? 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  Linked to the place-based 

approach that we have, what we have not seen are football clubs, for example, across the country.  We have a 

handful that pay the real Living Wage but there are many more that can afford to and have not.  That is really 

key, not just for football clubs but for other sporting institutions.  There is money there to be paid. 

 

The other real spaces that we see and are working towards are outside of the low pay areas, although retail and 

hospitality are important.  We have a team that is specifically focused on that and the universities as well.  We 

know that the majority of universities can pay the Living Wage and have not put that in place and should.  

They have a civic responsibility to do so.  We are working in some of those spaces as well. 

 

Lastly, local authorities have a huge impact on their local economy and their local area.  When they sign up to 

the Living Wage, what we see is that more employers in that area also sign up to be on the Living Wage and 

pay more wages.  It is really focused on those large institutions and place-based approaches. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  What proportion of local authorities are paying the Living Wage?  You would have 

thought that every local authority would, but are there many that do not? 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  I can tell you that there are over 

50 local authorities across the country that do.  If you want more detail about that, we can get that for you. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That would be helpful if you could send it back to the Committee.  Thank you.  The 

other thing that it would be useful to have details of is the number of Londoners who are paid the London 

Living Wage and the number of employers and in which sectors they are in. 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  I have some of that here. 

Page 24



 
 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  If it is speedy, yes, that would be good. 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  The number of Londoners who are 

paid the Living Wage is just over 739,000 and that is with 1,604 London Living Wage employers.  Those are 

headquartered in London businesses.  In terms of a breakdown by sector, you have mostly private companies, 

some public companies and a bigger number of third-sector companies as well.  Broadly, private companies are 

leading in that space, which is what you would expect.  There are more of them.  In terms of size, most of our 

network are small or medium enterprises.  We have a good chunk of microbusinesses but nearly 400 very large 

employers.  That is really representative of the UK economy in terms of employers. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you.  What about apprentices?  You said that young people are often paid less 

than the Living Wage.  Do you think apprentices should be paid the London Living Wage? 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  It is a good question.  The legal 

apprentice rate is probably too low, but apprentices are not included in the Living Wage agreement that we 

have with businesses.  However, there is a big caveat: lots of our employers do pay the London Living Wage to 

their apprentices as well and so there is a measure of best practice there, but it is not something that we 

campaign on or will campaign on in the future.  There is a space for that, though. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Yes, certainly, because this is another group of young people who are earning poverty 

pay. 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  Absolutely, yes. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I would like to move on to Tim, if that is OK, and look at how many Londoners are paid 

below the legal minimum.  How many Londoners are paid below, yes, the legal Minimum Wage? 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  The data reports how many Londoners are paid 

below from a derived amount, a weekly amount divided by the number of hours, and so it is subject to lots of 

caveats.  It is official.  In terms of the numbers, I do not have the numbers to hand but we published a 

document last week that showed the proportion of those paid less than the Minimum Wage.  It was highest in 

London and the southeast.  There is a higher proportion of all those measured as being paid less than the 

Minimum Wage in London and the southeast than in other areas. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Do you know why? 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  Partly because the number paid on the Minimum 

Wage in London and the southeast is lower than in all other UK areas. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Why do you think employers are paying below the legal minimum?  Because they can 

get away with it? 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  Partly because they can get away with it.   The 

data has some concerns about how accurate it is.  It is based on employers reporting.  Most of the non-

compliance we would expect would not be in those data because we expect that it is in the informal sector 

where most of it happens.  There is a big question mark about the gig economy, outsourcing, etc, and whether 

those workers are entitled to the Minimum Wage or not.  Lots of cases are going through tribunals at the 

Page 25



 
 

moment with contradictory outcomes and very dependent on specific circumstances.  Sorry.  Can you repeat 

the question? 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I just asked why you think they pay below the minimum. 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  If they do, it is because they can get away with it.  

We have had research that has looked into why employers pay less than the minimum wage.  Some of the 

employers’ attitudes are quite surprising given we are in the 21st century, in that they will argue that it is for 

students or others in the household where it is not a main income, therefore it is pin money and therefore -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Women. 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  Yes.  It might be in ethnic minority employment 

whereby it is not just, say, in restaurants and so on, it is a family connection or a local community connection 

so that it is very difficult to make a complaint against the employer without -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That kind of underpayment is very difficult to enforce, presumably. 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  Yes, because there is also potentially some 

connivance between employer -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Coercive control, presumably, as well, within relationships.  What does the Low Pay 

Commission do?  Do you have any role in enforcing?  What is the enforcement mechanism? 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  We do not have any direct role in enforcement.  

Our department, BEIS, is responsible for the National Minimum Wage policy and they outsource the 

enforcement to Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC).  Apart from health and safety, the minimum 

wage is the only enforceable right that is done by the state.  For all other employment rights, you have to go 

to the Employment Tribunal and take individual cases.   

 

In order for HMRC to investigate, they have two parts of their strategy.  One is the Advisory, Conciliation and 

Arbitration Service (Acas) hotline.  Anyone can phone up that hotline and say, “I think I am being paid less 

than the minimum wage”, and that case will be investigated.  All those cases are investigated, anyone who 

phones the complaints line.  There are also some proactive HMRC investigations that have risk-based 

strategies.  They pinpoint particular areas and particular sectors where they think that minimum wage 

underpayments are likely to be stronger.   

 

As part of trying to strengthen that mechanism the new office of the Director of Labour Market Enforcement is 

trying to bring together the strategy of enforcement, overseeing the roles of the HMRC minimum wage 

officers, the Gangmasters Licensing Authority [Gangmasters and Labour Abuse Authority (GLAA)] and the 

employment standards agency and bringing those together to try to have a more strategic think about how to 

get more compliance and reduce non-compliance.  Those three bodies come from very different backgrounds 

with very different financing.  The GLAA is more at the anti-slavery end of the spectrum whereas HMRC’s 

revenue officers are more at the end of official companies, going and looking at records of non-payment. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Do you think there is anything that anyone could be doing much more of, that is an 

obvious gap in terms of enforcement? 

 

Page 26



 
 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  Clearly we hear anecdotal cases of 

non-compliance and more can be done, but a lot is currently being done and there have been huge increases in 

resources for HMRC on the minimum wage side.  It takes time to train enforcement officers up.  Part of the 

delay in maybe seeing an immediate increase in numbers is training up the workforce to do that, but that 

should happen.  Also, the Director of Labour Market Enforcement is bringing together and making 

recommendations that the Government can act on.  However, as we hear from our trade union colleagues, 

there is still lots of evidence of non-compliance and firms being very grey in what they do. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Caroline, I have a couple of others who are very keen to come in now so if I 

could just bring them in before we go on.  Susan and then Fiona. 

 

Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman):   I will be very quick.  Having employed people for years, periodically 

you have always had people come in and check your pay-as-you-earn systems for that.  If you have businesses 

doing deals with members of staff for cash, that is very difficult for Inland Revenue and so on to look into.  It 

does go on all over the place and that is a difficulty.  I do not know how one addresses that because the 

employee should not allow that either.  Employers most certainly should not do it but employees, if they take 

cash in hand and do not pay tax, are compliant with the whole thing going wrong.  I will leave it at that.  There 

are other things I want to -- 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  OK, so that is the issue of people working off the books and not getting into 

the tax system at all, which is another one. 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  You sometimes have a combination.  Some of the 

hours will be on the books and some of the hours will not. 

 

Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman):  Yes. 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  Or two sets of books, which we find quite 

commonly in textiles. 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  I have two questions and I will try to keep them quite tight.  One is about awareness by 

employees and this might be something that Helen [O’Connor] could come in on as well.  For example, in the 

hospitality industry and in some of the low-paid areas of work, particularly in London where we have quite high 

levels of migrant workers, is there a job to be done around making sure people are clear what their basic 

employment rights are?  I think some of the work done by Unite with their hospitality branch indicates that 

there are quite a lot of people working in those industries who do not necessarily know their rights.   

 

The other question I have is around devolution of enforcement to local authorities.  Some time ago there was a 

paper by Centre for London recommending that enforcement was devolved to local authorities as organisations 

would be coming into much greater contact with some of the areas of the employment market where there is 

lack of compliance.  That is two quite different questions, but I just wondered if you could comment on those.   

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  I know you will want to bring in Helen and I can see that Sam is very keen to get 

in here, so if we start with Helen and then go to Sam, and then if any of the rest of you want to comment on 

that.   

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  In terms of people understanding their rights, yes, 

there is the issue of language barriers and there is the issue of people literally not knowing their rights.  We are 

working quite hard to address that in GMB trade union on my sites.  The other issue is sometimes people know 

Page 27



 
 

their rights but they are so oppressed by management -- and I think it comes back to your point about the 

cash in hand being given.  There is a power imbalance in these relationships and workers are literally terrified.  

They will do whatever the manager says to them.   

 

We had a situation in Kingston Hospital where a worker was actually assaulted by a manager just before 

Christmas.  This sort of thing is going on.  People are getting shouted at.  There is a real power imbalance here 

that needs to be taken into consideration.  As the colleague said here, a course of control is involved as well.  

People are just under horrendous levels of pressure.  Really, if they understand their rights, they feel they 

cannot -- we have had, for example, in GMB union, protests where we have said to workers, “Come on your 

break on a protest, it is your right”, and they are fearing they will be sacked, or they will be bullied for doing 

things like that.  It is a very difficult area. 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  These are really good questions.  I 

can send to the Committee, on the back of the Low Pay Commission report we put out last week, I think, or on 

26 April [2019], 19 recommendations on things that could be done to improve enforcement in the UK as a 

whole though obviously lots were very relevant to London.  There is a whole range of stuff there and some of 

those are things that the Assembly and the Mayor could support in terms of enforcement.  Points were made 

earlier around increasing funding for HMRC enforcement, which has seen an increase in finding out cases of 

underpayment, but also, we need to support the GLAA.  There is a whole other inquiry there on what we could 

do to support undocumented workers in our capital and part of the issue is that we know we have a higher 

percentage of undocumented workers here than virtually anywhere else in the country.  That is a big issue.  I 

will not go through the 19 recommendations; I can just send those in. 

 

In terms of making sure people know their rights, again this is an area where there is quite a lot that could be 

done to help.  Certainly when I was a GMB organiser a long time ago we had leaflets in lots of different 

languages that just set out basic employment rights, and in the past - I think this was changed when the 

Government changed - with European Union (EU) accession countries, anyone who was applying to come and 

work from one of those accession countries would get a letter jointly from the TUC and, I think, the Home 

Office, in the language of their country just setting out what the basic employment rights were.  It would say, 

“You are entitled to this minimum wage.  You are entitled to this sick pay”, this kind of thing.  They would get 

that and we did that in those languages.  I think that has been discontinued.  I know that the GLA is looking at 

a new portal for workers’ rights where all that information would be.   

 

Just relating this back to the apprenticeship point, we are very much campaigning for apprentices to get the 

London Living Wage in London.  Southwark definitely make sure all their apprentices get the London Living 

Wage, and apprentices who are working for organisations who are working to them.  They use their 

procurement powers to do that.  Camden are about to introduce the same.  We have things like a pay 

calculator, a new app that is coming out so that any apprentice can go online and see what they should be 

entitled to.   

 

We think the apprentice minimum wage is ridiculously low, £3.40, but when you look at the research we have 

done across sectors like construction, hairdressing and social care, between 25% and 30% of apprentices in 

those sectors are not even getting the national apprentice minimum wage.  In construction it was 29% when 

we did the survey last year [2018].  We can get you that information, but it is shocking, the abuses at that 

level.  There are improvements, as Tim was referring to, and there has been more enforcement, but they are 

absolutely shocking rates. 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Are 29% getting paid or are not? 

 

Page 28



 
 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  Are not getting.  We will send you 

the statistics.  I do not want to get this wrong on the record but between 25% and 30% of apprentices across 

those sectors are not even getting the already very low apprenticeship minimum wage.  As I said, we have an 

app being released shortly which will be for any apprentice to look at where they are, what their age is - it 

varies according to age, it varies according to which year of your apprenticeship you are in - and very quickly 

find out what the absolute minimum wage should be.  That is just part of the union’s contribution, trying to 

make sure that people are aware of their rights, but I think the language issue in getting basic rights to 

colleagues is crucial and, as I say, there is quite a lot that the GLA could do to support that.  We might come 

back to that later. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  We are very happy, if you have additional information, for you to send it to us 

afterwards so that as we conclude our investigation into this it is able to inform what we are putting forward as 

recommendations to the Mayor as a result of our looking at this area.   

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Nobody commented on the devolution point, so I just wondered whether somebody 

could comment on that. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Yes.  I think a lot of them have gone into joint partnerships now on regulatory 

services and many of them, of course, have cut staff in this area so I am not sure how vibrant enforcement in 

this area actually is, but Sam. 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  We are slightly wary about devolving 

enforcement powers completely because we think a lot of this should sit at national level and where you look 

at things like the child labour regulations, which are devolved to local authorities, because of cuts and things, 

as you sad, that gives you quite a patchy picture of what is happening.  It is often not local authorities’ fault 

but it is difficult and it is difficult to follow up.   

 

However, having said that, there are some really interesting examples of where local authorities have been 

linking up stuff.  If we look at Newham, where we have done that really innovative stuff on housing 

enforcement, linking up enforcement on bed-in-sheds stuff but a wider thing of saying that where we know 

there are abuses of hygiene regulations and so on, you are very likely to find other abuses.  Certainly, in very 

initial conversation - other colleagues might know more - Newham were looking at starting to do that on 

minimum wage stuff as well, that cross-authority approach to violations.  There are bits of a local authority 

that will pick up on issues and if you have violations of hygiene, fly tipping and stuff, where businesses are 

doing that there is a very good chance that they are the ones who are most likely to be exploiting 

undocumented workers, most likely to be paying under the minimum wage and most likely to be putting 

people in tight accommodation.   

 

I do not have any more details of that at the moment, but we had a very initial conversation with colleagues in 

Newham and I know there are some other boroughs that were looking at that as part of their local industrial 

strategies.  That, again, might be something that the Committee would want to look at. 

 

So, not necessarily full devolution of enforcement but much greater cross-authority working and linking up 

with the agencies that do exist, HMRC, GLAA and so on.  We think there is a lot more that could be done 

there. 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Obviously when people start working in the UK they get a National Insurance number.  

Is there a greater role for Government in terms of sending out basic information about employment rights at 

that point, at whatever age people sign up for a National Insurance number? 

Page 29



 
 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  Yes. 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  Just to come back on that, we were asked to look 

at the [Matthew] Taylor recommendations [from the report Good Work: The Taylor Review of Modern Working 

Practices, 2017] last year and we produced a report that had recommendations, one of which was that on day 

one workers should be given something setting out their rights, including what their pay would be, what would 

be expected, what hours are expected and so on.  We also made other recommendations about shift 

cancellation and curtailments on payment or compensation if that happened, and also for notice of shift 

changes being not last minute.   

 

In terms of awareness, in 2010 all publicity was immediately stopped by the incoming Coalition Government 

and it did not really pick up again until about 2015.  However, you are probably aware of various radio 

advertisements currently that are advertising the National Living Wage, heard on many radio stations.   

 

In terms of devolution of enforcement to local authorities, we have the same concerns as Sam [Gurney] that it 

does not become a postcode lottery and it does not mean firms in certain local authorities would be more 

clamped down on than others, but we also welcome local authorities working closely with the enforcement 

agencies to clamp down on any non-compliance.  Again, there is the example of Newham.  We have seen it 

with Newham and chicken restaurants.  We are working with the Border Agency, the minimum wage 

compliance officers and health and safety with the local authorities. 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  That is interesting, thank you.  A couple of the questions I had have been covered, and 

so I will move on to one around welfare reform. 

 

As members of the panel will be aware, the Mayor does not have responsibility over welfare reform although he 

has raised a number of issues around welfare reform direct with Government.  Clearly the reforms do have an 

impact on the number of Londoners living in poverty.  What changes do members of the panel think that the 

Mayor should lobby the Government on that would be of the most benefit to low-income Londoners? 

 

Manny Hothi (Director of Policy, Trust for London):  There are a few.  We have published a couple of 

reports on Universal Credit, essentially, being the main plank of the welfare reform that is going on.  The first is 

the five-week wait.  You have to wait five weeks if you are going on to Universal Credit for your money and 

that is driving many, many people to food banks and into debt and so forth.  We had Bright Blue, which is a 

centre-right thinktank, publish a report that recommended that - at the moment you can get a loan upfront 

which you have to pay back - the loan is transferred into a grant, so essentially the state goes onto the state to 

provide money upfront so that you are not struggling for five weeks, which is unacceptable. 

 

A few other things.  The two-child cap.  Obviously, that has a significant impact on families that have more 

than two children.  Restoring the link between inflation and the cost of living, uprating benefits in line with the 

way that prices are going generally.  Allowing fortnightly payments, for example, and for payments to be split 

in households so they do not just go to the main earner.  I have a list.  There are many other micro aspects of 

the way Universal Credit is working, and then there is the overall benefit cap of £23,000 in London per 

household, which does not cover what you need to live, basically. 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  I wondered if members of the panel could also comment on what the Mayor could do 

directly to increase the amount of better-paid jobs in outer London.  It has been observed - in your 

presentation as well, Manny - as a particular issue in outer London. 

 

Page 30



 
 

Manny Hothi (Director of Policy, Trust for London):  I think the economic development model is to build 

up the centre and get people coming into the centre from outside, which is very dominant economic thinking 

at the moment.  I am sure there are ways in which the Mayor can leverage his powers to help people to invest 

in outer London areas to build clusters and agglomerations in outer London, but I think that is very much 

counter to the way economic policy is going at the moment.   

 

We have released a very, very long report published by the Smith Institute on outer London [The unspoken 

decline of outer London: Why is poverty and inequality increasing in outer London and what needs to change?, 

2018] which has about 50 different recommendations.  One of them, which we do not all necessarily subscribe 

to, is to not put Crossrail 2 through and to increase transport infrastructure spending in outer London to 

ensure people can get from borough to borough rather than just coming into the centre, for example.  

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  Just to come in on that, it would 

be helpful if the Mayor used his influence to encourage every London borough to have a place-based plan to 

improve the number of Living Wage jobs in that space, thinking about large employers in the different outer 

London boroughs and how they can offer Living Wage or above jobs, essentially. 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  I think we would all absolutely agree 

with everything that Trust for London is saying on Universal Credit at the moment and the welfare issues.  We 

have a project called London Unemployed Strategies, which is a claimant support group that sits in our TUC 

region and is funded by Trust for London at the moment, so take that as read that we would -- it is a flawed 

system at the moment although the principles would be OK if it was properly funded and done properly.   

 

In terms of the outer London jobs issue, within the London economic strategy there has been some quite good 

stuff that the Mayor has been saying around centres and using planning power.  We are just in the process 

now, as I am sure the Committee will be involved with, of looking at the Local Industrial Strategy for London, 

and a key bit of that is going to be place-based stuff.  That is really important.  Across London, there are some 

really positive schemes.  If you look at Barking and Dagenham and the Look East project, they have put a lot of 

money into regenerating a huge site, a major pharmaceuticals thing with quality jobs that left, but the local 

authority were actually working with the company before they left and they are going to be the biggest new 

film studios for two generations.  There are lots of other locations like that.  That has been supported by the 

GLA but is very much a Barking and Dagenham project.  That is around high-quality, decent work at a local 

level.  There are initiatives like that in a number of London boroughs, issues around planning gain and so on 

where the local authority has a role and the Mayor’s Office have a role.  That is being positive, but we need to 

see more of that.   

 

There are a number of strategies that you have in the GLA and that the Assembly has oversight of, and it is 

how we actually link those up with the Local Industrial Strategy, which is obviously a Government-prescribed 

thing.  All the Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) need to be working on making sure that place-based 

approach is there.  That is very important and it needs proper oversight from groups like your Committee, but 

also involvement from all the people who are here as well. 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  The role of transport should not be underplayed, 

getting transport from places where people live to where these parts are and making it easy, accessible, at the 

right times of day and with the right regularity to cater for not just full-time jobs but part-time, flexible 

working as well.   

 

Manny Hothi (Director of Policy, Trust for London):  There is a big conundrum, though, in all of this 

about London.  If you improve the transport links and make local services better, they become more desirable 

Page 31



 
 

places to live and they become more unaffordable.  In the Smith Institute report I mentioned earlier on, there is 

no exit from that conundrum except for building more social housing and more affordable housing.  You may 

give outer London better jobs and better transport links but it just becomes more and more expensive to live 

there.   

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  The link between supply and demand is really clear in housing.  There is an 

undersupply, hence prices have gone up.  Rather than doing demand-side stuff like help to buy, which just 

stokes the market, we need to do a bit of supply-side work.   

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  I want to talk about other determinants of poverty apart from low wage.  Let us start 

from you, Tim.  What weighting do you give to a low wage compared to the increased cost of living in London? 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  The National Minimum Wage or National Living 

Wage, by definition, is national.  According to the National Minimum Wage Act 1998, which set up the 

National Minimum Wage, it cannot vary by geography, industry, occupation or size of firm.  We are prevented 

from doing any of those.  When we have looked at regional or country minimum wages, usually within-area 

differences are greater than the between-area differences.  London might potentially be an exception but 

there are low-paid parts of London as well as, as we know, on average, much higher paid.   

 

In terms of how much lifting a minimum wage can do, it can only do so much.  It is quite a blunt tool.  It just 

shifts the bottom up.  It cannot guarantee any ripple effects.  Where there is a policy vacuum at the moment is 

on wages above the minimum wage in that the last 40 years of labour market policy in the UK have generally 

been about reducing wage pressures rather than encouraging them.  We should be looking at that because 

maybe that is one of the reasons why real wages are now 6% below what they were in 2008.   

 

To answer your question, the minimum wage can only go so far.  You need to perhaps look at other ways of 

empowering workers to force up wages elsewhere in the distribution.  In terms of poverty, it is addressing 

those issues that determine poverty.  It is housing, it is childcare, it is transport, which are not necessarily 

related to anyone’s individual work or pay.  It is also the circumstances of the household, whether there are 

one or two working parents, whether there are home parents, and not only childcare but also elderly care 

become much more important.   

 

Transitions into and out of the labour market.  We know that when women leave the labour market to have 

children, they generally come back in at a lower grade or part-time so they lose wages, and that is a permanent 

loss throughout the rest of their careers.  We need to perhaps think about how we keep those who take time 

out to look after children and the elderly, how they can be incorporated into the workforce and not lose a lot 

of their expertise and skills or get penalised for doing so.   

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  What do you think the Mayor can do about the cost of living, the effect of the cost of 

living or to reduce the cost of living in London? 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  In terms of practical things, one of the largest 

costs is housing.  It is how we might be able to tackle housing in terms of increasing the total amount of 

housing units, but then that does come up against some of the other Government policies that are driving up 

house prices and rents.  Transport.  Making it more affordable for people to get from A to B through whatever 

transport systems there are would help. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Manny, what factors of in-work poverty do you give the most weighting to, low pay 

or high costs?  Are there other reasons for the increase in Londoners living in in-work poverty? 

Page 32



 
 

 

Manny Hothi (Director of Policy, Trust for London):  Both sides of the equation have to be tackled 

together, increasing incomes and reducing costs.  There is something that has not been talked about which is 

contributing toward in-work poverty and that is education.  There are two, there is adult education and there is 

school-age education.   

 

One of the things we often fall back on is, OK, tackling poverty is a generational thing.  If you are growing up 

as a child in a household in poverty, you get an education, you go to university and that traditionally is the 

route out of it for you to hopefully do better than your parents’ generation.  Research that we are about to 

publish by the Social Market Foundation shows that if you come from a disadvantaged background in London, 

you go to school, you get good grades and you go to university, it does not necessarily translate to good 

employment outcomes because the labour market is rigged against you.  You do not have the cultural capital 

and you do not have the social capital to be able to get into decent careers that have good routes up the 

income spectrum.   

 

There is one particular bit where London seems to fall out.  It does well in schools up to about 16.  You can get 

great GCSE results but if you grew up in London and then go to further education, you seem to drop off a bit.  

There is that sixth form college bit which does not seem to do so well for children from disadvantaged 

backgrounds.  Even if you go to university, the cards are stacked against you when you get there as well.   

 

There is something about school-age opportunities and there is something about adult education as well.  I am 

sure my union colleagues will know much more about it than me but there is a lot of work to be done to 

prepare people for the changes that are happening in the labour market, tying in automation, displacement of 

work and new opportunities that come out of that with getting people out of low-paid work.  The problem 

with the education bit and in-work progression is that the incentive is not always there for the employers to 

invest in human capital because the best way to get a pay rise is to change jobs.  You invest in human capital 

and the fear is people leave.  There is that too.   

 

The cost stuff is really tricky, and we need to do more at the Trust for London for that.  We are investing, as I 

said, in a presentation, Fair by Design, which is a social investment fund.  There is a big space for socially 

responsible business to be able to offer products and services to low-paid workers that are not exploitative. 

 

The Mayor I think is doing some stuff around energy and a green energy company.  Utilities could be 

somewhere where the Mayor does some stuff. 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  Just to come back, we have all seen 

reports recently on the absolute stalling on social mobility.  Historically London probably had better mobility 

than some other parts of the country, but it seems to have gone backwards.  It really does feed into this lack of 

progression point.  We have had it across various sectors of the economy where you would have thought you 

would move up over time in the job, up the pay ladder, but we had a big report on hotel workers last year that 

showed there is virtually no mobility, on paper.  People just are not moving up.  This comes back to the very 

initial point around flatter structures where people are not moving up.  Our General Secretary has been talking 

a lot more around a class ceiling in London as well as issues around gender, ethnicity and disabled workers as 

well.  That cuts across.   

 

There was a point Manny made there around the devolved Adult Education Budget to London, which is going 

to be very important.  There is already some very positive stuff we have seen there on pilots, making sure that 

anyone who is on the London Living Wage or below will still get free access to stuff.  That is being piloted in 

London, which is very important, but there is other stuff we can do with that.  I am not an expert on the skills 

Page 33



 
 

agenda, but we have union colleagues who sit on the Skills and Business Partnership for London and other 

people who are feeding into that.  There is a real role there for what can be done to support career 

progression.  There are some very interesting programmes already.  I am trying to get people from different 

backgrounds moving up, working with good companies.  I think we are going to come back to this with 

questions on the Good Work Standard and so I will not go into that as a positive thing. 

 

Just in terms of those other issues, childcare, transport and housing, on housing obviously the Mayor and the 

Assembly have a direct role in supporting a massive increase in affordable housing in London.  On transport - 

again, colleagues have referred to this - the fact is we are the only capital city that do not have any subsidy 

from central Government for our transport system.  Despite the Mayor freezing the bits of fares which he has 

control over, which was very positive, we are still seeing an increase in transport costs, as we know, because we 

do not have control over train companies coming into London.  You are seeing that increase.  We know, 

because of the housing issue, people are being forced out further, so they are paying more every week, every 

month, on their fares.  Again, it is all joined-up stuff but unless you start tackling that, you are not going to 

crack this.   

 

Pay is absolutely crucial but reducing costs is important as well.  How there is a holistic approach on that is 

very difficult.  Transport it is saying, “Look at what the London economy puts back into the national economy.  

We should get some of that back”.  On housing, it is effectively using the powers that the Mayor does have on 

planning to increase the amount of affordable housing, with all the pressures that we know in the real world 

that that then leads to.  We are seeing people being forced further and further out.  Again, we can send in our 

analysis on childcare.  It has gone up three times as much as wages in London.  There is extreme commuting 

because of the number of Londoners who are being pushed out, as we know, and we expect all sorts of other 

issues there.   

 

As I said, lots of positive stuff is going on but there is more work and part of it is getting all of those strategies 

joined up at City Hall level.  There is lots of good stuff going on, but it is sometimes a bit siloed. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Yes, it would be good if you send us stuff through the Chair.  I will come back to you 

in a minute, Sam, but let me go back to Manny again.  Was that point you wanted to make on something I 

have already said? 

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  I wanted to expand on the points that have been 

made by colleagues, looking at the public services as employers. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Sorry, Helen, just before we bring you in, Susan indicated she specifically 

wanted to come in on the point that was under discussion there.  Then we will come back to you. 

 

Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman):  Sorry.  It is just a quick one, you have a really good point with the cost 

of travel.  Transport for London (TfL) workers get free travel passes but they also get a free one for anybody 

that they know.  In that case, do you think it would be better that instead of the Mayor giving the free passes 

to just whoever they know, that they were in some way directed to people on lower incomes or the poor? 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  I do not know the specifics of the 

family assistance travel thing that people get but there is a big issue at the moment in terms of the Rail, 

Maritime and Transport (RMT) Workers Union, putting outsourced cleaners on the Underground.  About 3,000 

were not getting any kind of free travel but were actually being charged, when they were at work, to travel 

between stations.  That was definitely an issue that we took up around the fact that cleaners working for 

whoever the contractor was should get the same travel benefits as TfL staff members.  That has not been met 

Page 34



 
 

for cost reasons, but they are now getting free travel when they are at work, so they are not having to pay for 

their own Travelcards to move between stations when they are cleaning.   

 

I would not like to comment on the specifics to comment on the benefits that apply to TfL staff but there is 

definitely an issue around support for apprenticeships and travel for under-18s, people in sixth form, travel 

assistance and stuff that the Mayor could be looking into, but I think we all accept there is an issue there 

about where the money for that comes from. 

 

Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman):  This is my point.  TfL has a £1 billion black hole.  Therefore, because 

your point is very well made, if people on very low incomes could get subsidised travel or whatever the money 

would have to come from somewhere.  I am asking you whether you think it would be a good idea if it was 

taken from these free passes that any family member or any friend can have from those workers. 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  We would argue that as that is in the 

existing terms and conditions for those staff, that would be something that would be very difficult to change.  

As I said, the fact that we had the subsidy for TfL removed by central Government is probably the crucial 

indicator because that was a much larger sum of money that could be used for direct investment, which has a 

massive net gain to the economy of London and the wider regional economy as well.  That would be what we 

would be looking at as being part of the solution to putting the funding in. 

 

Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman):  Yes.  The trouble is you cannot give money away when it is not there.  

That is where it could come from. 

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  It all feeds into the general point but just thinking of 

public services as employers and the NHS as a massive employer, we have seen the driving down of pay terms 

and conditions within the NHS and other public services.  Outsourcing and funding cuts higher up are 

responsible for both of those things.  We also see the abuse of outsource workers, as we have discussed.  

Questions have to be raised about the job opportunities within the public services.  They are going down the 

whole time.  They are huge employers.  We are looking at services being shut down and cut, people losing jobs; 

all of these things have to be tackled at a higher level or else we are just tinkering at the edges.   

 

Outsourcing definitely is a huge factor in driving down pay terms and conditions.  That needs to be looked at.  

Maybe look at insourcing of contracts.  What we are seeing as well is that people on NHS contracts have had 

their contracts driven down to the outsourcing rate.  We are being told, for example, in Epsom and St Helier 

that they are not going to pass on the nationally agreed NHS Agenda for Change pay rise to people on NHS 

contracts now.  It is actively being driven down to the lowest common denominator and this is leading to 

poverty and all of these issues that we are discussing.   

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  The people who are outsourcing in the NHS - for example, you mentioned  

St Helier’s [Hospital] - are not being encouraged to follow national NHS guidelines? 

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  Basically, when a contract is put out there are several 

bidders, say, for example, for porters, cleaners and catering.  Generally, because of funding cuts to public 

services, the Trusts and social services are in a position where they have to go with the lowest cost.  That 

creates huge problems.  That means just cutting things down all the time.  The other issue is that if people are 

on NHS contracts and they want a promotion within the health service, the company turns around and says to 

them, “We have to go on our lesser contract now”.  The whole time people are just being driven down into 

poverty in public services.  They are huge employers and it is a huge problem that does need to be tackled.   

 

Page 35



 
 

We want things brought back inhouse and people on proper, nationally agreed NHS pay terms and conditions.  

We want people on decent contracts with the hours written in, not on zero hours.  Some of these contracts the 

outsourcers provide are not even in line with legislation.  That is literally what we are facing. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  I do know backroom managers and I do not want to get too hooked on the NHS 

because I -- 

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  We are talking across not just the NHS but across 

public services, including local Government.  They are huge employers in London. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  I accept that.  I agree with you entirely.   

 

Let me just come back to you, Manny.  How do we use what we already know about households and which 

particular groups are affected?  How can we target our inputs to help those households that are most at risk? 

 

Manny Hothi (Director of Policy, Trust for London):  There is quite a bit of stuff.  There is stuff around 

welfare, ensuring that people are accessing the welfare that they are entitled to and that you have a proper, 

functioning welfare system.  Beyond that, if you look at how services are delivered, where are the touch points 

where people are coming in contact with these families?  We have published some research recently around 

debt and people who are coming into excess debt.  They are coming to advisers.  When they come to advisers, 

can we then use those touch points to have a wider conversation about things?   

 

Local authorities have spent a number of years, probably a decade and a half, trying to bring that sort of 

one-stop approach into the way they do service delivery.  Across anything we fund, really, about providing 

services to individuals, the more you tailor those services around those individuals, build them around them, 

design them around them, the better chance you have of success. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  One of the problems, Manny, is the complexity of applying for these benefits.  It is 

difficult.  I see this in my other job as a medical practitioner, as a general practitioner (GP).  The complexity of 

problems, the targets and number of forms they have to get in is almost going up a Himalayan track. 

 

Manny Hothi (Director of Policy, Trust for London):  It is, and Universal Credit is digital by default, which 

adds another layer for a lot of people.  Combine with that the huge reduction in funding for voluntary services 

and advice services.  It is not at the top of the list for local authorities at the moment to provide that kind of 

support to people, which is what people need. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  You know, of course, that there is a 68% success rate for people who apply for an 

appeal against a decision on the benefit because it is so complex.  I as a doctor sometimes have difficulty 

knowing how to answer those forms.   

 

Sam, just to come back to you, why is there such a strong link between self-employment and in-work poverty? 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  If we look at the nature of self-

employment now and the number of people who we would argue are not genuinely self-employed. As I said, 

there are many incredibly successful self-employed people and the economy needs people who are 

self-employed.  I grew up with a parent who was self-employed, my mum in a single-parent family was 

self-employed and it worked for us at that stage.  However, and colleagues here have worked on this, about 

half the people who are self-employed would earn less than the minimum wage if you calculated it across an 

hourly rate.   

Page 36



 
 

 

Often these are people for whom it is was not a voluntary choice to go into self-employment.  You have people 

who are working for companies where they are being labelled ‘self-employed’ but who we would argue - there 

are various cases, as we know, going through the courts - are clearly not self-employed.  Gig economy workers 

who are clearly working, we would argue, legally should be covered.  You also have other people who have not 

been able to access other forms of work so have gone into self-employment and started up small things but 

are not being able to make ends meet.  We have argued in our figures - I think this is right; again, I do not 

want to misquote the figures - that of the 1.2 million people who are classed are self-employed in the UK at 

the moment, about half are in forms that we would not consider to be genuine self-employment.  It is that half 

that we think are having a big impact on the figures on poverty and in-work poverty.   

 

The comes back to the wider points right at the beginning on insecure work.  We talk a lot around issues for 

people on zero-hours contracts but insecure work also includes the large number of people who are on short 

hours and the larger number of people who are in forms of self-employment that we do not think are genuine.  

To come back to Susan’s [Hall AM] point around people who might be clued in with it, there are definitely bits 

of industry where people have come off the books and are doing it, but what we are seeing now are far more 

business models where people would like to be on the books and classed as an employee but are being told by 

firms like Uber or others that they are not, that they are a self-employed person despite the fact that they are 

clearly absolutely linked.  That is having a massive downward push on wages, and in London, where that sector 

of the economy is much bigger, it is having a bigger impact here than it is elsewhere.  I am sure colleagues 

would have more statistics on it as well. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  What has been the impact of the Taylor review [Good work: The Taylor review of 

modern working practices, 2017] since it has come out?  Could more have been done with it? 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  We would argue that the Taylor 

review itself did not go far enough, and even the recommendations that he did make have not yet been 

followed through by the Government.  Again, I am very happy to submit our things.  There are four areas.  I will 

find them in a second, but certainly around what counts as an employee or worker, people having day one 

rights in the job, things like union representation, online balloting and so on -- there are a whole range of 

areas where we think [Matthew] Taylor [Chief Executive, Royal Society for the encouragement of Arts, 

Manufactures and Commerce] could have gone a lot further.  However, as I said, even where he has made 

recommendations we have yet to see any follow-up on those recommendations from Government.  TUC’s line 

was that it was a missed opportunity twice, both in the fact that it could have gone further and in that even 

where there were some positive recommendations we have yet to see them followed up by the Government, 

partly due to the Government being fully occupied by other issues. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  We will not mention them here.   

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  Let us not.   

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  No swearing, please. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Sam, it would be very helpful if you could write to the Chair about the Taylor review 

and what more could have been done. 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  Absolutely.  We will forward TUC’s 

response. 

 

Page 37



 
 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  That would be very helpful.   

 

Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman):  This is a difficult one because if we could hear the answer to this I 

think there would not be an issue.  The question is: how do we help people in London rise above the minimum 

wage?  Does anybody have a simple answer to that?  No. 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  Support unionisation and rebuild 

collective bargaining in London.   

 

Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman):  The trouble is we are talking always about workers.  We must also bear 

in mind that there is a hell of a lot of employers out there who are really struggling and would love to give their 

employees more money but are just not making the money.  We are a nation of small businesses.  There are 

lots of instances where they could, and they do not, granted, but there are lots of instances -- 

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  Can I just come in on that specific point? 

 

Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman):  Yes, do. 

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  The businesses I am dealing with are transnational, 

multibillion businesses like ISS, who do not even provide a day one sick pay scheme for their employees. 

 

Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman):  Yes, I know -- 

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  We are talking about the big -- 

 

Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman):  That is what I have just said, there are lots that could and do not. 

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  Yes. 

 

Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman):  We must appreciate that there are lots who would but cannot because 

of rents going up and numerous other problems.  Nobody ever talks about employers and lots of them are 

suffering.  Clearly not the ones you are dealing with and I accept that unreservedly, but equally you have to 

accept there are lots of employers in small businesses who would love to give their employees more and are 

just about making ends meet themselves.   

 

There is something you mentioned, Tim, with flatlining lower jobs.  I call them ‘lower jobs’; they are vital jobs.  

The cleaners, the trolley collectors in a supermarket and so on.  Do you think that that will disincentivise 

people from trying to go up the ladder to the next step and that will not help? 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  It reduces the number of opportunities.  For 

example, anecdotally - we do not have proper, true evidence for it yet, so this is just anecdotal - in retail, one 

of the implications of the National Living Wage is basically job loss higher up the hierarchy than we have 

traditionally seen, deputy store managers and so on, with some of their responsibilities being transferred to 

supervisors and minimum wage staff.  Where before you would have someone responsible for closing the store 

and cashing the tills, that is now put on a lower-paid role and they are not getting the same payment for the 

responsibility that previously happened.  It changes above the minimum wage and that is affecting progression.   

 

We come back to outsourcing again.  In the past, we had vertically integrated firms.  That is when firms 

employed everyone from the cleaner all the way up to the chief executive.  There was a sort of ladder.  A 

Page 38



 
 

cleaner could get a job working on the reception desk.  The opportunities came.  If it was someone sociable, 

you would offer them a job.  The receptionist could then get a job further up.  There would be opportunities to 

do that.  In outsourcing, where basically you are just working for a cleaning contractor and you have a 

workforce of just cleaners, there is very little opportunity for advancement.  You can perhaps become a 

supervisor but once you have that you then have to move firms, in which you have to start again and get all of 

that human capital and training again, which does not guarantee you advancement.  Lots of those progression 

opportunities that used to be available are more difficult now than they used to be.  That affects people 

moving up and out of the minimum wage. 

 

Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman):  Absolutely.  That helps people to help themselves, which is what we 

should always encourage.   

 

Manny Hothi (Director of Policy, Trust for London):  Just on the business point, the big, looming 

change, which is not confirmed yet but may well happen, is a change to our immigration system, which would 

be a massive structural thing for businesses.  If we move to an immigration system that is built on encouraging 

high-skilled immigration and discouraging low-skilled immigration, which is defined as under £30,000 a year, 

that has a massive impact on businesses.  It will change the landscape for low-paid workers in London in 

particular, obviously those who come from abroad and those who rely on that kind of workforce.  There could 

well be routes open for particular industries that could attract workers on visitor’s schemes or similar 

schemes -- 

 

Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman):  It would drive wages up, no doubt, because - demand and supply 

again - it would go the other way.  It could start tipping back because we are in fuller and fuller employment, 

are we not?   

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  Just two points.  One is that Helen’s 

point is absolutely true.  Many of the companies we are talking about clearly could afford to pay, particularly 

outsource companies and big hotel chains like Intercontinental, who agreed to pay the London Living Wage so 

that they could be part of the procurement chain for the London Olympics and have just announced recently 

that they are never going to meet that pledge.  There are big companies like that we need to look at and we 

will come back to what could happen, but I think it is a very valid point, the one around support for SMEs.   

 

If we come back to stuff around the Good Work Standard and how that is being designed to try to make sure 

that there is support available for those companies to make the business case that Amy [Hulme] has argued for 

in terms of Living Wage, when you talk to some of those smaller companies about the net benefits to them in 

terms of retention and in terms of staff, there are more things that can be done there to - I do not always like 

using the words “business case” - make a business case for better pay.   

 

There are other things that, as I said, come under the London economic plans around business space, 

affordable rents, space for start-up enterprises.  Some of the advice for entrepreneurs in the capital, which is 

good stuff that is going on, can be linked into why it is important to treat your staff, if you have one or two 

staff, decently and why that is good in the long term for your business.  I do not think anyone on our side 

would argue that we do not understand this point.  You are right, there are real pressures on smaller businesses 

but, as I said, there is support, guidance and advice that can be provided to help them be able to deliver that.  I 

said we would come back to this point: that does not work if your business model is predicated on driving it 

down, but it does help if what you are trying to do is the right thing.  Lots of SMEs are trying to do the right 

thing.  They often need advice and support.   

 

Page 39



 
 

As I said, the Good Work Standard has some really good stuff there around how the GLA can help businesses - 

I hate the phrase “journey” - on that journey to move up in terms of levels within the Good Work Standard.  

We think it could have gone further in lots of areas, but it has been designed to make sure that it is accessible 

for big and small companies.  That was a fundamental part of the work they were doing, getting advice from 

the Living Wage Foundation and others around how you do that.  As I said, your point is valid -- 

 

Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman):  Yes.  We did some work around small businesses and one of the 

problems on some of them is that the employer himself or herself is actually working flat out just trying to 

keep things going, and everything else flies out the way because they are working so hard to make the small 

business go.  We have done a lot of work on that in this Committee.  It is a difficult situation.   

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  I said earlier that the majority of 

our network, the 5,000 we have signed up, are SMEs.  What we have seen is that the business case, as 

Sam [Gurney] said, has a real financial impact.  When you do not have to recruit and retrain consistently that 

has more of a financial impact, arguably, on an SME, where it is just that one person running a business, than it 

does in a multinational who have a team of people to do that.  The business case works.  There is a small 

company - and it is not in London - in the southwest, a caravan holiday park, and they do not recruit ever now.  

Their seasonal workers come back year on year.  The people that they have, they have kept for the last three 

years.  That means that they have been able to save a good sum of money on the recruitment and training of 

staff.  There is a real benefit for SMEs.   

 

They are also a lot closer to their workforce.  There is a little bit about SMEs really wanting to value the people 

that they employ and treat them well.  That is what we have seen with the people that we work with and the 

SMEs in particular, where they are closer to the issues that their workforce are facing, and they want to do 

something to support them in that.  I think that is why we have so many signed up to the Living Wage, 

essentially. 

 

Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman):  It is a subject I could go on about for hours, but I will not.   

 

We touched on this.  If you look at the retail sector now, and I go back to some of my previous points, the 

retail sector is suffering greatly at the moment.  Not only are rents going up unbelievably, but you can use 

companies like Amazon to get something.  The costs of things are the same up and down the country but the 

costs of rents and so on are not.  That does affect how they pay their employees because clearly the employee 

cost is sometimes or almost always the greatest cost there.   

 

How do you think we could help people in that particular sector?  Do you think that we should be doing 

anything, or the Mayor should be doing anything in the retail sector to assist?   

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  I can see nodding from Sam. 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  I have been talking.  I was hoping for 

someone else to go first. 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  There is a role for the Mayor to 

use convening powers to bring those biggest employers together.  One of the most difficult things is having 

the conversation with them and sharing the benefits of paying higher wages.  In particular, in retail there is a 

big cost benefit to you if you are able to reduce the turnover rates that you have, which are extraordinarily 

high particularly in retail, hospitality and social care, where we see low pay.  People move from one job to 

another for a 1 penny or 2 pence pay rise because pay is that low.  The Mayor could do something about 

Page 40



 
 

bringing those people together to really help to understand how higher wages can benefit in that particular 

sector, how it benefits both the company but also the employee.  We have some retailers who have signed up 

who have seen some real benefits from paying higher wages.  I think that is the main space that the Mayor 

could be supporting. 

 

Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman):  In an ideal world I totally agree with you, but we are not in an ideal 

world and I do see things from the other side, having run a business for years.  It is not always as easy as you 

think it is and there are other pressures always that are going on.  When we are looking at this particular 

situation we have to bear that in mind.  There are two sides to this and it is not always that easy. 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  Sorry, Chair, I would echo the point 

around the support that can be given in the retail sector, but it is a really interesting area because this is an 

area where unionisation has been growing.  The Union of Shop, Distributive and Allied Workers (USDAW), 

which is the main shop workers’ union, has put on large numbers of workers at a time when the overall 

workforce is decreasing, partly because they are articulating things that shop workers are talking about, which 

are not just pay but other things around assaults, terms and conditions, working hours and so on.   

 

This is twofold here.  This comes back to part of the business practice stuff where you have companies like 

Amazon and Sports Direct that are driving down conditions, often in ways that are directly anti-competitive 

practices.  That thing around using the Mayor’s voice to call out some of that behaviour around companies 

who are not paying their taxes, who are basing themselves offshore, who are doing things that are just 

incredibly bad for our economy in the long term but are then putting pressure on shops that are still trading on 

the high street.  Much as I genuinely do not agree with the Waterstones boss about what he said, part of what 

they were saying was they are under direct pressure from Amazon in buying online.  One of the reasons people 

go to Waterstones is because you can still talk to a staff member and have that dialogue and you get 

something else out of it.  You want committed staff members who can do the job and can tell you what the 

books are, and they are not just going to go online. 

 

Supporting all of the work that the Assembly and the Mayor have done on supporting high streets on investing 

and putting money into regeneration of our areas with local authorities to make the experience of going to 

retail, having been served by a real person is very important and just contributes to what we need to keep that 

sector alive.  I have not explained that very well, but the Mayor has influence that can be used both to call up 

bad business practice which is increasing pressure and to make the retail experience an attractive thing.  The 

convening power of bringing people together across the sector is one of things we have started and are talking 

to people in the Mayor’s office about bringing together the companies who are going to sign up to the Good 

Work Standard in retail and hospitality and bring them together with unions to look at wages, productivity, 

skills and retention.  There is a lot more that could be done there in retail. 

 

We have looked at where the key areas in London are where you could have the maximum impact on large 

numbers of low-paid workers.  Hospitality, catering, retail, social care, outsourced public services and 

outsourced other services are crucial areas and we think there is more that can be done there.  That is not to 

underestimate the pressure on the retail sector; it is huge, but there are things and the retail sector will evolve 

and keeping decent staff in there is crucial. 

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  Just to back up the colleague’s point, particularly 

with companies like Amazon, there is huge health and safety abuses like people cannot even get to have toilet 

breaks. That is one example of that.  There would be a role for the Mayor perhaps in using his influence to put 

legislation on the table to stop companies exploiting, particularly multibillion operations like Amazon.  There is 

Page 41



 
 

a real need for enforcement and legislation to stop some of the abuses that are going on within the 

warehouses. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Amy [Hulme] has said that she has the details of the profile of employers that 

pay the London Living Wage.  I see we have some targets for people to sign up to become Living Wage 

employers.  It would be helpful if you could supply that detail to us because we would like to see how that is 

progressing and how much further it is going to progress, hopefully. 

 

Do you feel that the Mayor has been active enough in getting businesses to pay the London Living Wage?  Is 

there anything else that the Mayor could do to back up the work of the Living Wage Foundation and getting 

employers signed up to the London Living Wage? 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  Yes, sure.  The Mayor has been 

doing a fair bit around the Living Wage.  The first thing is leading by example; the GLA is an accredited Living 

Wage employer, which means that everyone is paid the Living Wage and the third parties who are moving on to 

the Living Wage have contracts that have just been renewed.  That also includes all the subsidiaries that are 

involved, like TfL, etc.  They work closely with our team on that.  As you can imagine, it is quite a complicated 

process.  There is a lot of work and there are a lot of people involved in that space, particularly within the 

supply chain. 

 

All successive Mayors have supported the Living Wage and the Living Wage Week by announcing the London 

Living Wage at Living Wage Week in November.  This year, the team were instrumental in the signing up of 

London Stadium.  They were engaged with London Stadium and Citizens UK who were organising workers in 

that space, press and other stakeholders.  Three thousand had a pay rise because of the work the Mayor’s 

office had done. 

 

They also provided the Living Wage campaign with free advertising space on the TfL network across Living 

Wage Week which is the biggest package of support the GLA has ever committed to the Living Wage 

campaign.  We are working with the team this year on a more ambitious campaign for Living Wage Week.  We 

are hoping that we can meet more people; especially decision-makers who use other methods of transport, not 

just the Underground system.  I know the Mayor has written to 20 universities across London to encourage 

them to look at Living Wage accreditation and that work is ongoing. 

 

In terms of what more we would ask the Mayor and his team to be doing; their convening power is important in 

bringing together key stakeholders in different industries.  We talked about retail, hospitality and social care, 

but there are employers who cannot afford to pay the Living Wage.  I am thinking about our football clubs and 

our stadiums; there is the space to convene them and talk about the Living Wage and the benefits that could 

be seen in that space as well as the universities. 

 

One of the other things that the Mayor could and should be doing is including the London Living Wage in play 

space firms.  We talked about bringing some of the strategies together and the Living Wage is a good space to 

see some positive impacts for Londoners and it needs to be written into the play space strategies that the 

Mayor will have. 

 

We have just launched a piece of work on Living Wage places, zoned some buildings working with local 

authorities across London.  Lambeth just launched the first Living Wage zone, I believe, making sure that 

everybody in that place is paid the Living Wage in Living Wage buildings.  Everyone who is working in a Living 

Wage building are all paid the Living Wage.  There is some real work to be done there. 

 

Page 42



 
 

What came out of the Social Mobility Commission State of the Nation report was a recommendation that the 

Government should put the Living Wage in place or Government departments, particularly the Cabinet Office, 

and spread that out through the procurement of Government through their Social Value Acts.  As part of that 

social value framework procurement, there is space for the Mayor to use influence there with colleagues in the 

Government to move that conversation forward.  We know that if the Government paid the real Living Wage, it 

would mean the third-party outsourced staff would also get the Living Wage and the Cabinet Office, in 

particular, would be the space to make the most impacts in terms of Government.  There are some real asks for 

the Mayor but continuing to work with us and being more ambitious in the space that the Living Wage has 

seen. 

 

Part of the problem with Living Wage is that lots of people do not know about it.  They know about the 

Minimum Wage but not what the real Living Wage is.  There is a real role for the Mayor and his team to put 

that Living Wage logo in as many places as possible to get the message out there about what the real Living 

Wage is and what the Mayor and his team are doing around it. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  That is on the London Living Wage side of things, but we also need to think 

about what the Mayor is doing, whether the Mayor could do more to combat in-work poverty and what he has 

been doing to help on that side of things.  Is that something he can tackle alone?  I would think probably not.  

Who else needs to take responsibility?   

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  If we look at it on our side, our 

starting point was the London Living Wage is based on, as you say, fairer pay across London is crucial for 

tackling in-work poverty along with tackling all of the other issues that we have discussed today. 

 

Just on a couple of concrete things the Mayor has been doing and City Hall have been doing, the leading-by-

example point is crucial and the pay audits in terms of the GLA family, not just on gender, but ethnicity and 

disabled workers’ pay have been important and that is a positive example where you can do something which is 

absolutely lead by example.  We have not discussed the Good Work Standard but again, it is a very concrete 

contribution -- 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  We are going to come to that in a second.  Hold your first thoughts. 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  In terms of taking that forward, I will 

hold fire on that.  That links into this wider point around how the GLA can use procurement more effectively to 

support decent standards and quality jobs in London.  Again, with the commissioning power you have - and we 

have a meeting coming up with the team on that - there is policy, but we think that can go further in terms of 

people and how you support access for unions, just to talk to workers.  Not all workers are going to want to 

join but all sectors and getting the ability to talk to people and spread that message and the procurement 

policy could be used more effectively for that. 

 

We have mentioned the Living Wage zones procurement, but we are in Southwark at the moment; we are 

doing some interesting stuff on that, building on what Lambeth has done.  We have a big Living Wage zone, 

which is where the Heygate Estate used to be, which is going to be a Living Wage zone, but they are also just 

changing their procurement policies to go as far as they can legally with encouraging any of their suppliers to 

engage positively with trade unions.  Other councils are doing that, but Southwark is in my mind because I was 

talking to them the other day about some good stuff.  That, again, comes back to things the Mayor can do and 

the Assembly can do around supportive statements and calling out bad practice.  

 

Page 43



 
 

The Mayor has already written to BEIS as one of the five Government ministries that has not paid the London 

Living Wage to all of its contracted-out staff, to call on Greg Clark [Secretary of State for Business, Energy and 

Industrial Strategy] to do that.  That is just one employer; that is obviously a totemic one because it the 

Ministry of Justice as well.  There are things there that we can do where that kind of power would just 

absolutely come back to the convening point that using bodies like the London Enterprise Action Partnership 

in London, the Mayor’s office itself to get employers and unions and other stakeholders together and sit down 

and look at how we can link work or pay productivity and skills to try to deliver on outcomes, which we all want 

which is a much fairer economic system in London.  There are absolutely concrete things there that we could 

do to get business unions and others together in key sectors.  That is how you start to make a difference on 

the whole piece, not just on pay but driving down in-work poverty. 

 

Manny Hothi (Director of Policy, Trust for London):  Briefly about welfare, they are not all about central 

Government.  Some of it is local Government and local welfare schemes and there is a huge variety of provision 

across London.  Different boroughs do it differently.  That is counter tax benefit, discretionary housing 

payments, local welfare systems; hardship grants; mega work with London Councils to get much more 

consistency across all of the boroughs on local assistance so that people who do get into crisis mode have 

some help there that can help them out of it. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Yes.  There are some very dreadful examples of people being rehoused out of 

borough and then not even being given any assistance travelling back to borough to enable them to visit their 

doctor, take their children to school.  It is hugely expensive for them.  Some boroughs cover that cost and 

some do not. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  It has been great to hear the Good Work Standard mentioned so much during this 

morning because we have found it quite difficult to get a fix on exactly what the Good Work Standard is.  It 

was first going to be launched in 2018 and then it was delayed to 2019 and then it was pushed to spring 2019.  

We are still waiting for the actual launch, but it is meant to cover fair paying contracts, workplace wellbeing, 

skills, development, diversity and recruitment; a lot of the things that we have been discussing this morning. 

Potentially, it could be very useful.  

 

Sam, how powerful do you think the Good Work Standard is going to be when it surfaces? 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  A crystal ball.  The proof will be in 

what develops over the next year or two.  We engaged with a team who have been drafting it, as have lots of 

our unions, general colleagues, Unison, Unite and others.  We have been talking to the team from the 

beginning.  There are some issues with it.  We would have liked to have seen it go further on some of the 

issues around access and the role of unions although that is in there under what good looks like. 

 

There are some things which are incredibly important, just on the baseline stuff, which covers the statutory 

things which employers should do.  It does have stuff like a day one statement of your terms and conditions.  

Things that would seem like common sense to all of us but are not there but to sign up to it, that should be 

there.  There are issues which are going to be worked out in practice.  The commitment is that it should extend 

to the supply chain with immediate supply chains and contracted-out workers of companies who sign up to it.  

That is going to be very difficult to do and I am not quite sure if the team who are working on it have 

understood fully how difficult that is going to be to implement the stuff, although they are working with us 

and other colleagues who have got lots of experience on this. 

 

Potentially, it could be extremely good.  It could bring people together, getting people signed up.  They have 

soft-launched it, just at the backend of last year.  I think I am right in saying there are about 50 companies -- 

Page 44



 
 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Forty-five.  They are called champions. 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  -- are signing up to it, including a 

number of our unions in London as well.  This is a long-winded way of saying we have hope it is going to be a 

positive setting, encapsulating those four areas all of which are very important.  It is a good way of joining up, 

but it is going to depend on how it is rolled out and who signs up.  Our biggest point from a union point of 

view, certainly a terms and conditions point of view was there is only so far you can go.  Working with good 

employers is important, the employers who want to go on that journey and do the right thing.  

 

It comes back to the point of Susan [Hall AM, Deputy Chairman] around people who want to engage but it is 

difficult, and they have issues but want to talk and find out.  We absolutely have to engage with those, but we 

also have to be honest around business models and business practices which are predicated on driving down 

terms and conditions of exactly the sort of people that Helen [O’Connor] is working directly with at the 

moment.  Those companies are not going to be signing up for the Good Work Standard anytime soon.  We 

have to look at both how we use the examples of companies who are taking the journey of a Good Work 

Standard to encourage the ones who are trying to pull down terms and conditions.  That is going to be a role 

about political judgement and how far the Mayor, supported hopefully by the Assembly, is prepared to go in 

supporting the good and calling out the bad.  That is a long-winded way of saying we just do not know yet, 

but we have hope for it. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Yes.  That is very much the view that the Committee has been forming over the last 

year as we have been asking questions about it.  Does anyone here know any Good Work Champions on the 

scheme? 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  Yes.  A number of them are Living 

Wage accredited employers which is helpful.  We have worked, especially with the Mayor’s team, on the Good 

Work Standard as well.  My understanding is that it will officially launch later this month and so we be able to 

see who the 45 are.  What is going to be helpful is the resource available to those employers to try make some 

of those changes.  They are trying to give employers some of the how.  I know the conversations I have on it 

are; we think it is a good idea, paying better wages and being good employers is a good idea but how do we do 

it?  A body that is providing the how is a helpful space to fill. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Do you think the Good Work Standard will provide the how?  Do you think the 

Mayor’s teams will provide some of that?  How? 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  There will be some funding 

available and signposting to others who do that well is helpful as well.  We hope it is a good thing.  We think it 

will be, but we will have to wait and see. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  We have touched on procurement through the meeting and we have also heard about 

the ripple effect through procurement from Living Wage accredited employers.  Does anyone have anything 

they want to say on how effectively the Mayor is using procurement in terms of helping the whole agenda of 

good work?   

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  There is definitely more that could be 

done to support the role of access and supporting workers to organise themselves.  As I said, we are meeting 

hopefully quite shortly with the colleagues responsible throughout here to look at it as it is and what more we 

could do.  We are looking at examples from London boroughs where they have probably started to go slightly 

Page 45



 
 

further and examples of other metropolitan areas and Wales.  In Wales, yes, it is a different evolution there.  

They have more power, but they are in a process of discussions on a social partnership act which would cover 

public sector stuff, but they would also go over as much as they can into private sector procurement which has 

got lots of stuff around working with unions going forward as being a good part of that. 

 

Manchester and Liverpool are looking at their versions of Good Work Standards, employment stuff there which 

has good aspects, and we are talking to our colleagues in the terms and conditions regions who cover those 

areas as well.  We think there is probably more that could be done on the use of procurement by City Hall 

across the GLA family to encourage it.  We are not saying stuff has not been done, but we just think there is 

more that could happen.  We would like to see the Mayor pushing the envelope a bit more about the proactive 

stuff around engagement with a settlement particularly from our point of view -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  It is engagement with workers.  Is there anything else that you would like to see more 

proactive? 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  It does not come under the low pay 

stuff but obviously there are loads of other issues which we have; direct concern with procurement in terms of 

environmental, green, lots of stuff like that which we will come on to.  We know there are lots of things that 

we can use procurement for, a part of which is about how to improve terms and conditions including pay, but it 

does go further than that.  Also, there is stuff about where stuff is manufactured, where stuff is sourced, 

keeping jobs closer to home which we would like to work further on.  There are other areas which are linked 

outside of the remit of this particular discussion. 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  The Good Work Standard and 

helping employers to achieve high standards in employment should be something that is pushed through the 

procurement space for the GLA.  One of the bits of work we have been doing over the last 18 months is 

looking at tackling underemployment and insecurity for hours.  We know that pay is not the only solution to 

in-work poverty.  In June [2019], we are looking to launch a new set of measures that do exactly that.   

 

A broad coalition of workers, employers and unions have come together to look at what good practice might 

look like in terms of contracts.  If you are looking at living hours, contract what you do, what the minimum 

amounts of hours are a week you need to offer, a four-week notice period for shift patterns, for example, and 

a contract that accurately represents your hours.  There are some key measures there for low paid workers in 

particular, whether insecurity and risk is on them, and it could be shared between both the employer and the 

employee.  We would like to see, when that is launched, the Mayor pushing that out through his procurement 

space as well.  We know that is going to have an impact and a positive benefit for workers in particular. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Fantastic.  Thank you. 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  I should just say that we have not 

seen it but with a Great Jobs Agenda, by the TUC, which is to use these six things that constitute what a 

decent job looks like.  There are six categories; voice at work, pay, hours which covers health and safety in the 

workplace, learning and progression and I have just forgotten one.  Anyway, there are six key areas. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  You will send them to us. 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  They are very good which we would 

want to see procurement backing up.  As Amy [Hulme] says, there are bits of each of those areas where the 

Mayor’s procurement policy could support all those six areas. 

Page 46



 
 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  We have just been touching on any other suggestions for things that the Mayor 

could do to help tackle low pay and in-work poverty.  If there is anything that anybody feels that they have 

not yet added into the discussion, I am going to start with Sam.  You have managed to cover -- 

 

Sam Gurney (LESE Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress):  We have covered quite a lot, as I said.  

Procurement, great works and then supportive statements are the positive stuff on the role of unionisation and 

organising workers as being the absolute key determinant in sustaining and supporting people going forward. 

 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  The final thing for me is the 

outsource pieces have come up a few times.  It is so important to be working with those companies and those 

companies are procuring to other organisations.  Involving them in a conversation will be a move towards 

trying to fix some of the problems that are coming out through outsourcing.  

 

We have a recognised service ready scheme where the responsibility is on the employer who is procuring that 

service to request a Living Wage service.  Working with both sides definitely can eradicate a low pay ethic. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  You are outsourcing; someone must have written a document and you should 

write into it certain of the things that should be in the contract or the people -- 

 

Amy Hulme (Senior Programme Manager, Living Wage Foundation):  Yes.  That is the easiest way to 

make the Living Wage or whatever else you want to write into that for that to happen. 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  The only thing, just the retail, just the volatility, 

for the Mayor to be aware of the impacts that has.  For example, the interaction with the Universal Credit 

system can sometimes exacerbate that volatility.  For example, workers might get lots of hours at 

Christmastime and not in November say, therefore, the Universal Credit top-up is quite high at Christmas 

because they have not done any hours in November, but they also get lots of hours at Christmas, therefore, 

they earn lots of money.  Then, in January, their hours are cut back by employers and Universal Credits are cut 

back because they earned so much the previous month.  Because it is a monthly thing, it is not reflecting their 

true earnings in any particular month.  It is a month lagged and that can exacerbate lots of issues for seasonal 

workers. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  It is hard to manage your bills. 

 

Tim Butcher (Chief Economist, Low Pay Commission):  That was just an example but there are other 

workers where you have consistent hours, then that is less of a problem.  It is those who are subject -- 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  That is a very well-made point.  Helen, was there anything you just wanted to 

add at the end? 

 

Helen O’Connor (Regional Organiser, GMB Union):  In our experience, outsourcing does not work 

because it leads to a driving down of workers’ pay terms and conditions and also leads to a lesser service as 

well which is a separate point.  What we want to see is workers being paid wages that they can live on.  We 

want to see sick pay from day one.  We want to see proper contracts, people’s hours and job titles, etc, which 

is not happening at the moment.  We want to see health and safety standards being upheld because there are 

breaches all over the place.  Where those things are not happening, we want to see enforcement and we want 

to see penalties or sanctions. 

Page 47



 
 

 

Léonie Cooper AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Probably everybody around the table would be quite keen to see 

something that stops encouraging people who are ill to go into places of employment and share their illnesses 

with people.  Particularly in a hospital environment, that is inappropriate.  I would like to thank all our guests 

very much for attending today’s meeting. 

Page 48



Manny Hothi

Director of Policy

Trust for London

Low Paid London

Appendix 2 

P
age 49



Low paid London – the story

• Growth of in-work poverty

• Household incomes stalled, pay has been squeezed

• Post-crash increase in low-paid work

• Concentration of low-paid jobs in certain sectors and places

• More involuntary part-time and temporary working

• Disproportionate effect on certain demographic groups

P
age 50



Since the mid-1990’s there has been significant increase 
of in-work poverty.

P
age 51



Household incomes stalled. Pay squeezed.

P
age 52



One in five Londoners is paid less than the London Living 
Wage.

P
age 53



Low paid jobs by industry:

P
age 54



Growing gig economy, ‘involuntary’ p/t & temp working

P
age 55



There is a greater concentration of residents that are low-
paid in Outer London.

P
age 56



…same goes for location of low-paid jobs.

P
age 57



Increase in low-paid work has impacted more on women 
than men.

P
age 58



Some ethnic groups disproportionately impacted.

P
age 59



Disabled people are more likely to be low paid.

P
age 60



A reminder about the cost of living….

P
age 61



Low-paid, insecure work in London: what we are doing

• Step-Up. Joint initiative with the Walcot Foundation to trial new approaches to 
in-work progression.

• The Better Work Network. A grant to the Learning and Work Institute, to gather 
and share evidence about ‘what works’.

• Timewise Innovation Unit. A grant to Timewise Foundation to support employers 
to create more quality flexible and part-time work.

• Advice services. Multiple grants to organisations that provide employment advice 
and advocacy. 

• Collective action. Funding to New Economics Foundation, Unions 21, 
Independent Workers of Great Britain

P
age 62



Reducing the cost of living: what we are doing

• Special initiative with Citizens UK to campaign for better quality, more affordable 
housing.

• Research by the Centre for London on how we can create a more equitable 
transport system.

• Investing in Fair by Design, a social investment fund that supports businesses 
designed to end the poverty premium.

• Research by the Family and Childcare Trust on provision in school-aged childcare.

• Funding to the New Economics Foundation to setup a parent-led childcare co-
operative.

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 64



 

                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions 
 

Report to: Economy Committee   
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 18 June 2019 
 

This report will be considered in public  

 
 

1. Summary  

1.1 This report sets out details of completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of 
the Economy Committee. 

 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from its 

previous meetings.  

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 7 May 2019 

Minute 
Item 

Topic Status For Action  
 

5. Low pay and in-work poverty in London 

During the course of the discussion, Members requested: 

 The 19 recommendations included in the Low Pay 

Commission report which show how workers rights 

can be better enforced across the UK; 

 Further details on the Taylor Review and what more it 

could have done; 

 The different sectors were apprentices are not 

receiving the National Minimum Wage; and 

 The six areas according to the Great Jobs Agenda 

which constitute a “decent” job.  

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation 
with party Group Lead Members, to agree any outputs from 
the discussion. 

 

 

 

Completed – 

Attached as 

Appendices 1 

to 3. 

 

 

 

 

In Progress. 

 

 

In Progress. 

 

 

 

London East and 

South East 

Regional 

Secretary 

Designate, 

Trades Union 

Congress 

 

Regional 

Organiser, GMB 

Union 

 

Senior Policy 

Advisor.  

 

 

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5



Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 3 April 2019 

Minute 
Item 

Topic Status For Action  
 

5. Ethnicity Pay Gap in London  

During the course of the discussion, Members requested 

from the details of whether the Mayor has consulted BiTC 

on the Good Work Standard. 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation 

with party Group Lead Members, to agree an output from 

the meeting. 

 

In Progress. 

 

 

 

 

In Progress. 

  

 

Inclusion and 

Diversity Adviser, 

BiTC 

 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager  

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 12 March 2019 

Minute 
Item 

Topic Status For Action  
 

6. Small Minicab Firms in London  

During the course of the discussion, Members requested the 
following additional information:  

 An estimate of the increase in zero-emission-capable 
taxis since the changes to the delicensing scheme in 
2018; 

 Further details on the work taking place by TfL to 
accelerate the number of electronic vehicle charging 
points and the rapid charging network;  

 The difference in operator licensing fees for inner and 
outer London including whether there was any impact 
from the changes to the licencing arrangements; 

 Whether an impact assessment on private hire vehicle 
operators for the new licensing structure took place; 

 The economic impact on private hire vehicle firms 
since the introduction of the Night Tube including 
whether this has seen a decline in the use of private 
hire vehicles; 

 Whether, since the launch of the Toxicity Charge, 
there has been evidence of behaviour change for 
private hire vehicle drivers and companies; 

 Details of what the money gained from the change in 
the ULEZ (Ultra Low Emission Zone) will be spent on; 

 A copy of the Environment and Economic Impact 
Assessment of the ULEZ and if available the impact 
on private hire vehicle drivers; 

 Details of whether most private hire vehicle trips do 
not enter the central Congestion Charging Zone area 

 

 

 

 

In Progress. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Transport for 

London (TfL) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 66



Minute 
Item 

Topic Status For Action  
 

where the ULEZ is launching; and 

 A London-wide breakdown based on TfL’s figures on 
whether private hire vehicles are replacing car 
ownership or increasing the amount of traffic in 
London. 
 

The Committee delegated authority to the Chairman, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree an 

output from the meeting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In Progress. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 17 January 2019 

Minute 
Item 

Topic Status For Action  
 

5. Tackling the Disability Employment Gap 

The Committee delegated authority to the Chairman, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree an 

output from the meeting. 

 

Completed – 

See Agenda 

Item 6. 

 

 

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 10 July 2018 

Minute 
Item 

Topic Status For Action  
 

6. Preparing London for EU Exit 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation 
with party Group Lead Members, to agree an output from 
the discussion. 

 

In Progress. 

 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

 

3.  Legal Implications 

3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

4. Financial Implications 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

 

Page 67



List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 - Response to follow up request for information from the 7 May 2019 meeting of 

the Economy Committee - London East and South East, TUC 

Appendix 2 - No stars - Low pay in the hotel and accommodation sector 

Appendix 3 - Real wages still down in 31 of London’s 33 local authorities, TUC analysis 

reveals 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None.  

 

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4616 

E-mail: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 68

mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk


Appendix 1 

 

Response to follow up request for information from the 7 May 2019 meeting of 

the Economy Committee - London East and South East Regional Secretary 

Designate, Trades Union Congress 

 
Request for information: 

During the course of the discussion, members requested the below information from the 

London East and South East Regional Secretary Designate, Trades Union Congress: 

 The 19 recommendations included in the Low Pay Commission report which show 

how workers rights can be better enforced across the UK; 

 Further details on the Taylor Review and what more it could have done; 

 The different sectors were apprentices are not reciving the National Minimum Wage; 

and 

 The six areas according to the Great Jobs Agenda which constitute a “decent” job.  

Response: 

Attached for info is a link to TUC Great Jobs Agenda, which sets out headline calls on 
employers and politicians on the six key areas we believe would deliver an increase in quality 
jobs. https://www.tuc.org.uk/publications/great-jobs-agenda  
  
Also attached are a couple of the press releases I referred to on the full in real wages across 
the capital since 2008 and the particular impact of childcare costs which can be found here 
 https://www.tuc.org.uk/news/childcare-fees-have-risen-three-times-faster-wages-2008-
tuc-analysis-reveals. 
  
Finally, I referenced a TUC report on wages in the hotel sector, it’s a national report but 
contains a breakdown by regions as well which shows the acute problem in London, copy 
attached. 
  
Thanks again for the invitation to give evidence.  

Additional Information 

Appendix 2 – No Stars – low pay in the hotel and accommodation sector  
Appendix 3 - Real wages still down in 31 of London’s 33 local authorities, TUC analysis 

reveals 

Sent by email on 15 May 2019  

 

Page 69

https://www.tuc.org.uk/publications/great-jobs-agenda
https://www.tuc.org.uk/news/childcare-fees-have-risen-three-times-faster-wages-2008-tuc-analysis-reveals
https://www.tuc.org.uk/news/childcare-fees-have-risen-three-times-faster-wages-2008-tuc-analysis-reveals


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 70



No stars 

Low pay in the hotel and 

accommodation sector 

Appendix 2

Page 71



 

2 

Contents 

Executive summary ................................................................................................................................................ 3 

Methodology ....................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Overview of the accommodation industry ................................................................................................... 7 

Make-up of the workforce ............................................................................................................................. 8 

The industry across the UK ............................................................................................................................ 9 

The accommodation industry since the recession ............................................................................. 10 

Pay in the accommodation sector ................................................................................................................ 13 

Overview of wages and wage growth .................................................................................................... 13 

Real Living Wage............................................................................................................................................. 16 

Gender inequalities ........................................................................................................................................ 17 

Regional inequalities ..................................................................................................................................... 18 

Age ....................................................................................................................................................................... 22 

Full-time and part-time wages .................................................................................................................. 26 

National Minimum Wage non-payment ............................................................................................... 27 

Unpaid overtime and the minimum wage ............................................................................................ 29 

Conclusion .............................................................................................................................................................. 31 

Page 72



 

3 

Executive summary 

The UK’s hotel industry has made an impressive recovery since the 2008 recession. This 

recovery would have been impossible without the hundreds of thousands of workers that keep 

the accommodation industry in business.. Whether it’s through making beds, cleaning rooms, 

or cooking food for guests, their dedication and hard work means that both British and 

international visitors are able to enjoy the time they spend in hotels.  

Despite the contribution they make to the success of the accommodation industry, hotel 

workers are often badly rewarded for their efforts. Low pay, long hours and abuses of power 

such as sexual harassment are rife in the industry. In the words of one worker, ‘they treat us 

like machines’. 

This report is the first of two reports looking at the hotel sector. This report will focus on pay. 

The second, to be published in early 2019, will look at how workers are treated while at work. 

This will include issues such as long hours, health and safety and abuses of power.  

What’s the issue with pay? 

The hotel industry is enjoying an impressive recovery. For example: 

• The country’s largest hotel chain, Premier Inn, saw its underlying operating profit 

increase from £457 million in 2016/17 to £498 million in 2017/18, a rise of 6.5 per cent. 

Its total sales grew by 5.2 per cent, while the chain opened 4,385 new rooms 

• Intercontinental Hotels Group (IHG), owner of chains including the Holiday Inn and the 

Crowne Plaza, report that group operating profit rose by 12.5 per cent 

• In its most recent publicly-available annual report, Travelodge had increased its total 

revenue by 6.6 per cent 

These profits are not being shared evenly. For the average employee, the accommodation 

industry is one of the most badly paid in the economy. The average employee receives £8.15 

per hour, which is over £4 per hour less than the average employee in the economy as a 

whole.  

Over half of the employees in the accommodation sector are paid below the real Living Wage, 

with the percentage of employees not paid the real Living Wage rising among certain groups. 

For example: 

• In some regions, between 60 and 70 per cent of employees are not paid the real Living 

Wage. In three regions (Wales, Yorkshire and the Humber, and the East Midlands), it’s 

between 70 and 75 per cent of employees 

• Younger workers in the accommodation sector are much less likely than the average 

accommodation employee to be paid the real Living Wage 

Page 73



 

4 

• Women in the sector are less likely than male employees to be paid the real Living 

Wage 

The accommodation sector does not offer its employees much scope for pay progression. An 

employee in the accommodation sector barely earns more in their thirties and forties than 

they do in their twenties. This goes against the trend in the rest of the economy. The highest 

earning age group in the accommodation sector, those in their forties, earns £54 per week less 

than the average employee across the whole economy between the ages of 22 to 29.  

Excessive executive pay coexists with poor wages across the industry. While the average hotel 

sector employee is paid £8.15 per hour, Travelodge paid its board of directors a combined 

total of £5.4 million in 2017. Its best-paid director saw their remuneration package double, 

from £1.2 million to £2.5 million. Whitbread paid its board and CEO a combined total of over 

£4.7 million in the 2017/18 financial year. 

What we want to see change 

The TUC believes that every worker deserves to have a great job. An essential part of this is fair 

pay.  

We want the government to increase the national minimum wage to £10 as quickly as 

possible, and for this to include 21- to 25-year-olds. Due to the prevalence of low pay in the 

accommodation sector, with median pay for all employees being £8.15 per hour, this would 

improve the pay of the vast majority of employees in the sector.  

Employees in the hotel sector also need a voice at work. As part of the Great Jobs Agenda, we 

want employers to: 

• Recognise a trade union for collective bargaining on pay and conditions 

• Set out how they’ll consult the whole workplace on important decisions 

• Have elected workers on company boards. 

Each of these would help to improve the pay of workers in the hotel sector, as well as lead to 

fairer distribution of the profits currently being enjoyed by the CEOs and boards of directors of 

hotel chains.  

You can read more about the Great Jobs Agenda1 online. 

  

                                                           

1 https://www.tuc.org.uk/sites/default/files/The_Great_Jobs_Agenda_2017_AW_Digital.pdf 

Page 74

https://www.tuc.org.uk/sites/default/files/The_Great_Jobs_Agenda_2017_AW_Digital.pdf


 

5 

Methodology 

Industrial classification 

As the focus of this report is on workers in the hotel sector, we have cited figures for the ‘hotel 

and similar accommodation’ industry where possible.2 Sometimes, however, we could only 

produce reliable statistics if we used the broader ‘accommodation industry’ category. As 83 

per cent of employees in the accommodation industry are employed in the hotel sector, these 

figures will still be a good reflection of pay and conditions in the hotel sector.  

We have often used the accommodation industry when breaking down the figures by region, 

age or sex. Almost all the statistics cited regarding pay in the accommodation industry, for 

example, are for the accommodation industry rather than the hotel industry. 

The Labour Force Survey 

The Labour Force Survey (LFS) is a quarterly household survey of employment carried out by 

the Office for National Statistics (ONS). Around 40,000 households take part. The results are 

weighted by sub-regional population estimates before being adjusted for the estimated age 

and sex composition by region.3 

Although the LFS is representative of the overall population, the sample includes only a small 

number of migrants, affecting the reliability of its figures, especially for sectors like the hotel 

sector, where migrants form a large part of the workforce.  It also omits workers who have not 

been living in the same place for the six months, meaning it does not include temporary 

migrants in the sample. For both of these reasons, the LFS underestimates the number of 

migrants in the labour force. As migrants are often less familiar with their rights in the UK than 

other workers, they are more vulnerable to exploitation. This mean that working conditions 

are even worse than the figures in this report suggest.   

The Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings 

Most of the statistics cited regarding pay in the accommodation industry are from the Annual 

Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE). ASHE information contains estimates of hourly and 

weekly earnings, as well as paid hours of employment. As the survey is conducted in April, 

most summer and winter seasonal workers would not be included in the sample4. Although 

ASHE underwent a slight methodological change in 2011, the impact of this on our statistics is 

minimal.  

Outsourced workers 

Although a significant part of the workforce in the accommodation industry is outsourced, 

these workers are not included in the LFS’s statistics on the industry. This is because the LFS 

                                                           

2 As defined by the Standard Industrial Code (2007) 
3 Methodology: Labour Force Survey (LFS) QMI, Office for National Statistics  
4 Quality and Methodology Information: Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings, Office for National Statistics 

Page 75



 

6 

categorises a worker’s industry by the company that employs them. As a result, an outsourced 

cleaner working in a hotel would be classified as working in the cleaning services industry5. 

It is unclear as to whether the same applies to the results of the ASHE. ASHE asks employers to 

classify themselves, meaning that there is some potential for variation. WGC, the company 

that cleans around 70 per cent of Accor Group hotels, classifies itself as being in the ‘general 

cleaning of buildings’ industry. P&P Hotel Consultancy, which is contracted to clean some 

hotels in the Holiday Inn chain, classifies itself as being in the ‘hotel and similar 

accommodation’ industry.6 This means that some outsourced cleaners working in hotels would 

be classed as being in the hotel industry while others would not. 

For reasons described elsewhere in this report, outsourced workers are more likely to be 

exploited. As a result, their exclusion from our statistics on pay and conditions would lead us to 

believe that workers in the accommodation industry are even more badly treated than the 

figures presented in this report would suggest. 

 

 

 

 

  

                                                           

5 This has been confirmed by ONS in its correspondence with the TUC. 
6 Companies House 

Page 76



 

7 

Overview of the accommodation 

industry 

The accommodation industry in the UK has recovered rapidly since the recession. The number 

of employees in the industry increased by 20 per cent between September 2007 and 2017. 

Total employment across all industries, in contrast, rose by only 8 per cent over the same 

period7. Record numbers of overseas visitors in 2017 resulted in a particularly successful year 

for the industry, with the percentage of rooms that were occupied also reaching a record 

high8. 

The accommodation industry, as defined by the Standard Industrial Code, can be broken down 

in four groups: 

• Hotels and similar accommodation 

• Holiday and other short stay accommodation 

• Camping sites, recreational vehicle parks and trail park 

• Other accommodation 

83 per cent of employees in the industry work in hotels and similar accommodation, with 

another 12 per cent employed in holiday and short stay accommodation.9 Although the 

hospitality sector is sometimes conflated with the accommodation industry, the hospitality 

sector in fact contains both accommodation and food services activities, such as restaurants 

and cafés.  

Table 1: breakdown of the accommodation sector by type of accommodation 

 

While this report focuses on pay and conditions in the hotel sector, figures for this industry 

alone are not always available. The report will clearly state whether statistics refer specifically 

                                                           

7 TUC calculations based on LFS results published in JOBS03: Employee jobs by industry 
8 https://www.bdo.co.uk/en-gb/insights/industries/leisure-and-hospitality/hotel-britain-2017 
9 ‘Other accommodation’ covers a range of types of accommodation with little relevance to the hotel 

sector, including halls of residence and boarding school accommodation and worker hostels. 

 Hotels and 

similar 

accommodation 

Holiday and 

other short stay 

accommodation 

Camping sites, 

recreational 

vehicle parks & 

trail park 

Other 

accommodation 

Total 

Number of 

employees 

275,073 (82.5%) 39,178 (11.8%) 7,522 (2.3%) 11,590 (3.5%) 333,363 

Page 77



 

8 

to the hotel sector or to the whole accommodation sector. The figures for the whole 

accommodation industry are still relevant to this report because the overwhelming majority 

(83 per cent) of employees in the accommodation sector work in hotels.  

Make-up of the workforce 

The LFS provides insight into the make-up of the hotel sector workforce10. Employees in the 

hotel sector are more likely to be women, with almost three-fifths (59 per cent) of the directly-

employed workforce being female. Employees also tend to be younger, with more than two-

thirds (68 per cent) being under the age of 40. Across all employees, the figure is just under 

half (49 per cent).   

Employees in the hotel sector are more likely to be part-time than the average employee. 36 

per cent of employees in the hotel sector are part-time, compared to 26 per cent across all 

employees. Of those who are working part-time in the hotel sector, almost half (48 per cent) 

say that they do not want a full-time job, while 29 per cent are working part-time while they 

study. Over one-in-five (22 per cent) were unable to find full-time work.  

According to the LFS, the majority of employees in the hotel sector are from the UK (62 per 

cent). However, this is a much smaller majority than across all employees, where around 83 

per cent are from the UK. 

Table 2: top 10 occupations in accommodation sector 

Occupation Number of employees11 Percentage 

Cleaners and domestics 35,605 10.7 

Waiters and waitresses 34,342 10.3 

Cleaning and housekeeping managers and supervisors 22,289 6.7 

Receptionists 21,510 6.5 

Chefs 18,706 5.6 

Kitchen and catering assistants 18,672 5.6 

Hotel and accommodation managers and proprietors 17,552 5.3 

Bar staff 17,394 5.2 

Housekeepers and related occupations 11,940 3.6 

Other elementary services occupations n.e.c. 11,892 3.6 

Source: LFS, July to September 2017 

                                                           

10 LFS, July-September 2017 
11 These figures are for indicative purposes only. This table includes the top 10 occupations in the 

accommodation sector, rather than the hotel sector specifically, according to LFS. Only those occupations 

with more than 10,000 employees have been used. 

Page 78



 

9 

Around a quarter of hotel sector employees (26 per cent) are from the EU. The LFS, however, 

tends to underestimate the number of foreign nationals in the labour force. The fact that 

outsourced workers are not included in these figures may lead to an underestimation of 

migrant workers in the industry. Results from a survey by the industry body, the British 

Hospitality Association (BHA), suggest that 34.1 per cent of workers in the hotel sector are EU 

nationals12.   

Migrants are particularly vulnerable to exploitation as they are less likely to be aware of their 

rights. In the words of one union member in London; ‘You won’t find people with good English 

employed by the agency. They don’t want people who can discuss their rights.’13 

The industry across the UK 

In 2016, the approximate gross value added at basic prices (aGVA) generated by the 

accommodation sector in the UK economy was estimated to be £14.9 billion14. aGVA is the 

amount that a sector contributes to the economy. It’s calculated by finding the difference 

between the value of goods and services produced by a company (the output) and the cost of 

raw materials and other inputs that are used up in production of those goods and services. 

London was the highest contributing region, with an aGVA of £3.8 billion. The figure was above 

£1 billion in the North West, the East of England, the South East, the South West and Scotland. 

The regional breakdown of employment by region in 2017 reveals a similar pattern. The five 

regions where the accommodation industry has an aGVA of over £1 billion also have the 

highest number of employees.  

While the industry’s recovery since the recession will be discussed in greater depth later in this 

section, it’s worth noting that the industry grew in every region between 2008 and 2016.  Even 

the region with the weakest accommodation industry, the North East, has seen a rise of £125 

million (53 per cent) in aGVA. Every other region, however, has seen increases even higher 

than this. The figure has risen by 125 per cent in the North West, 89 per cent in the East 

Midlands and 83 per cent in Yorkshire and the Humber. 

Table 3: number of hotel sector workers by region 

Region Number of employees Percentage of the 

workforce 

London 59,335 18% 

South East 36,076 11% 

North West 34,960 10% 

                                                           

12 Labour migration in the hospitality sector, KPMG, p.18  http://www.bha.org.uk/wordpress/wp-

content/uploads/2017/05/BHA-EU-migration-final-report-170518-public-vSTC.pdf  
13 Unethical London, Unite the Union, p.11 
14 Annual Business Survey, 2016 

Page 79

http://www.bha.org.uk/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/BHA-EU-migration-final-report-170518-public-vSTC.pdf
http://www.bha.org.uk/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/BHA-EU-migration-final-report-170518-public-vSTC.pdf


 

10 

South West 34,620 10% 

Scotland 32,815 10% 

East of England 30,112 9% 

Yorkshire and 

Humberside 

28,824 9% 

West Midlands 26,601 8% 

East Midlands 15,921 5% 

Wales 18,873 6% 

Northern Ireland 9,509 3%* 

North East 5,717 2%* 

Total 333,363 100% 

Source: LFS, July-September 2017, *not statistically significant as less than 10,000 employees 

The accommodation industry since the recession  

The industry’s recovery after the recession has been impressive. 2016 marked the industry’s 

seventh year of consecutive growth15. The industry’s 2016 aGVA of £14.9 billion was an 

increase of 73 per cent since 200816.  

Although the rate of hotel rooms in the UK occupied during the summer fell from 72 per cent 

to 68 per cent between 2007 and 2009 because of the financial crash, this rate jumped to 74 

per cent in 201017. The summer occupancy rate then dipped slightly in 2012 to 73 per cent, 

before rising to 77 per cent in 2013 and continuing to grow consistently since. It reached a 

record level of 82 per cent in 2017, however there was a methodological change in June 2017 

that means this figure cannot be compared to the figures from previous years18 19.  

                                                           

15  According to the accountancy and business advisory firm, BDO, 2016 marked the industry’s seventh year 

of consecutive growth. With occupancy rates and revenue per room at record highs, it seems reasonable to 

assume that 2017 could mark the eighth year of growth. https://www.bdo.co.uk/en-

gb/insights/industries/leisure-and-hospitality/hotel-britain-2017 
16 TUC calculations based on the results of the Annual Business Survey, Section I- Accommodation and 

Food Services Industry  
17 Table 1, UK Occupancy Survey for Serviced Accommodation: Annual Summary 2010, VisitBritain: 

https://www.visitbritain.org/sites/default/files/vb-corporate/Documents-Library/documents/England-

documents/2010_uk_os_annual_summary.pdf 
18 Table 1a, United Kingdom Occupancy Survey: Annual Report 2015, VisitBritain, see: 

https://www.visitbritain.org/sites/default/files/vb-corporate/Documents-Library/documents/England-

documents/annual_ukos_2015_final_summary_report.pdf 
19 The figure for 2017 was calculated by the TUC using VisitBritain’s monthly figures for July, August and 

September. https://www.visitbritain.org/sites/default/files/vb-

corporate/2017_ukos_newsletter_september_2017.pdf 

Page 80



 

11 

There’s also been a recovery in the industry’s standard measure of success, the Revenue per 

Available Room (RevPAR), since the end of the recession. RevPAR is calculated by multiplying 

the average daily rate of a room by the occupancy rate20. After falling slightly in 2009, the 

RevPAR for London had recovered and exceeded its pre-recession peak by the following year.  

According to PWC, between 2008 and 2016, London hotels saw RevPAR rise by 23 per cent 

from £98 to £121. Although it has taken longer for hotels outside of London to recover, 

RevPAR reached £54 in 2017, compared to £46 in 200821. 

2017 was a particularly successful year for the accommodation industry, driven partly by a 

record rise in the number of overseas visitors to the UK.22 Revenue per Available Room 

(RevPAR) also reached record levels in the same year. Knight Frank, an estate agency and 

property consultancy, estimate that London’s RevPAR rose by 8.6 per cent in 2017 to £136. 

Hotels outside of the capital saw RevPAR rise by 6.4 per cent to £67. Knight Frank also 

conclude that Gross Operating Profit Per Available Room has risen despite increased 

overheads.23 An estimated 17,000 new rooms opened in the UK over the course of the same 

year, with 50 per cent of new hotels opening in London.24  

While it is true that the positive effect of a falling pound may be temporary, market analysts 

predict that the industry’s success will continue through 2018. Knight Frank forecast continued 

nominal growth in RevPAR in both London and the regions in 2018, albeit at a slower rate. 

Occupancy is set to remain at its high levels in the regions, while the rate for London hotels 

was forecast to fall by 0.5 per cent in 201825. Another consultancy company, PwC, are even 

more optimistic about the industry’s performance in 2018. Unlike Knight Frank, PwC forecast 

growth of 0.2 per cent in the occupancy rate of London’s hotels, with marginally higher growth 

in the regions.  In nominal terms, they predict that RevPAR will grow by 2.4 per cent in London 

and 2.3 per cent in the regions. In real terms, they expect that RevPAR in London will stay 

above pre-recession levels, but outside London to be 6.6 per cent lower than it was in 2007. 

Despite this, PwC believe that the outlook for the industry in 2018 will be ‘reasonably strong.’26 

The UK’s biggest hotel chains are also booming. The country’s largest hotel chain, Premier Inn, 

saw its underlying operating profit increase from £457 million in 2016/17 to £498 million in 

                                                           

20 https://www.investopedia.com/terms/r/revpar.asp 
21 2008 figures taken from UK hotels forecast 2010 and 2011, PWC (see: 

https://www.pwc.co.uk/assets/pdf/uk-hotels-forecast-issue21.pdf). 2017 figures taken from UK hotels 

forecast 2019, PWC (see: https://www.pwc.co.uk/hospitality-leisure/documents/pwc-uk-hotels-forecast-

report-final.pdf). These figures do not take into account inflation. 
22 https://www.theguardian.com/travel/2017/jun/16/uk-tourists-pound-brexit-us-holiday-exchange-rates 
23 Knight Frank Hotel Trading Performance, p.14, 

http://content.knightfrank.com/research/1360/documents/en/uk-hotels-trading-performance-review-

2017-5018.pdf, 
24 http://content.knightfrank.com/research/1360/documents/en/uk-hotels-trading-performance-review-

2017-5018.pdf, p.3 
25 http://content.knightfrank.com/research/1360/documents/en/uk-hotels-trading-performance-review-

2017-5018.pdf, p.3 
26 https://www.pwc.co.uk/hospitality-leisure/documents/pwc-uk-hotels-forecast-2018-as-good-as-it-

gets.pdf 

Page 81

https://www.pwc.co.uk/assets/pdf/uk-hotels-forecast-issue21.pdf
https://www.pwc.co.uk/hospitality-leisure/documents/pwc-uk-hotels-forecast-report-final.pdf
https://www.pwc.co.uk/hospitality-leisure/documents/pwc-uk-hotels-forecast-report-final.pdf
http://content.knightfrank.com/research/1360/documents/en/uk-hotels-trading-performance-review-2017-5018.pdf
http://content.knightfrank.com/research/1360/documents/en/uk-hotels-trading-performance-review-2017-5018.pdf
http://content.knightfrank.com/research/1360/documents/en/uk-hotels-trading-performance-review-2017-5018.pdf
http://content.knightfrank.com/research/1360/documents/en/uk-hotels-trading-performance-review-2017-5018.pdf
http://content.knightfrank.com/research/1360/documents/en/uk-hotels-trading-performance-review-2017-5018.pdf
http://content.knightfrank.com/research/1360/documents/en/uk-hotels-trading-performance-review-2017-5018.pdf


 

12 

2017/18, a rise of 6.5 per cent. Its total sales grew by 5.2 per cent, while the chain opened 

4,385 new rooms27. Intercontinental Hotels Group (IHG), owner of chains including the Holiday 

Inn and the Crowne Plaza, report that RevPAR rose by 2.7 per cent in 2017 and group 

operating profit rose by 12.5 per cent. Its annual report announces increased returns for its 

shareholders28. In their most recent publicly-available annual report, Travelodge had increased 

its total revenue by 6.6 per cent, and its RevPAR by 2.9 per cent29. 

As the section below on pay will make clear, the fruits of the industry’s success are not being 

evenly shared. Although these companies are happy to boast about their financial success 

when they talk to their shareholders, they paint a different picture while trying to justify the 

Dickensian wages they pay their staff.  

Last year, Intercontinental Hotels Group (IHG) announced that they would break their promise, 

made during the 2012 Olympics, to introduce the real Living Wage in their hotels. Despite 

rising profits, IHG had the audacity to cite rising employment costs as the reason for their 

failure to pay their employees the real Living Wage.30 

Excessive executive pay coexists with poor wages across the industry. Travelodge paid its 

board of directors a combined total of £5.4 million in 2017.31 Its best-paid director saw their 

remuneration package double, from £1.2 million to £2.5 million. In comparison, the average 

hotel sector employee is paid £8.15 per hour32 33. Whitbread paid its board and CEO a 

combined total of over £4.7 million in the 2017/18 financial year. The company’s CEO, Alison 

Brittain, was paid over £2.3 million34 

  

                                                           

27 Whitbread Annual report 

2017/18:https://www.whitbread.co.uk/~/media/Files/W/Whitbread/report-

and%20presentations/2018/Whitbread%20Interactive%202018.pdf 

28 https://www.ihgplc.com/en/investors/annual-report 
29 https://www.travelodge.co.uk/sites/default/files/Thame_and_London_Limited_signed.pdf 
30 https://www.thecaterer.com/articles/514480/ihg-performs-reverse-ferret-on-london-living-wage 
31 https://www.travelodge.co.uk/sites/default/files/Thame_and_London_Limited_signed.pdf 
32 https://www.travelodge.co.uk/sites/default/files/Thame_and_London_Limited_signed.pdf 
33 ASHE, TUC analysis   
34 P.89, Whitbread Remuneration Report, 2017/18, 

https://www.whitbread.co.uk/~/media/Files/W/Whitbread/report-

and%20presentations/2018/Whitbread%20Interactive%202018.pdf  

Page 82

https://www.whitbread.co.uk/~/media/Files/W/Whitbread/report-and%20presentations/2018/Whitbread%20Interactive%202018.pdf
https://www.whitbread.co.uk/~/media/Files/W/Whitbread/report-and%20presentations/2018/Whitbread%20Interactive%202018.pdf
https://www.whitbread.co.uk/content/dam/whitbread/pdfs/investors/reports-and-presentations/annual-reports/2017/Whitbread_remuneration_report_2017.pdf
https://www.whitbread.co.uk/content/dam/whitbread/pdfs/investors/reports-and-presentations/annual-reports/2017/Whitbread_remuneration_report_2017.pdf


 

13 

Pay in the accommodation sector 

Despite the strong economic performance described in the previous section, the 

accommodation industry is one of the most badly paid in the economy. Official statistics show 

that average earnings in the sector are well below the national average. The majority of 

workers earn below the Real Living Wage. There’s also evidence that a significant number of 

employees in the industry are earning below the legal minimum wage.  

 

This section will examine the trends in pay in the accommodation industry between 2008 and 

2017. These trends will be broken down by region, gender, employment pattern and age. As 

well as analysing trends in pay, this section will consider how many employees are missing out 

on both the real Living Wage and the National Minimum Wage.  

Overview of wages and wage growth 

Employees in the accommodation industry tend to be badly paid. According to the 2017 

Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE), the mean hourly wage before tax in the 

accommodation industry was £10.51, compared to £16.25 for all industries 35. The mean wage 

is calculated by dividing the total sum of all wages in a sample by the total number of 

employees. It does not therefore measure how pay is distributed. As the results of the ASHE 

                                                           

35ASHE 2017 (Provisional) 

Page 83



 

14 

includes hotel managers and proprietors on higher wages than rank-and-file employees, the 

mean is not usually a reliable way of measuring what most people are being paid.  

The median wage, which is the point at which 50 per cent of a sample earn less and 50 per 

cent earn more, is a more reliable way of calculating the typical wage of a worker in the 

industry36.  

While this report will focus on rank and file staff who are paid very low rates, it’s worth noting 

that hotel managers are paid below the mean wage for all employees. Despite the industry’s 

rapid recovery since the end of the recession, the mean wage of hotel managers and 

proprietors has fallen by £4.07 an hour in real terms between 2012 and 2017. While hotel 

managers earned about £2 above the mean hourly wage in 2012, in 2017, they earned £2 

below it37 38. Although hotel managers have often been the enforcers of their employers’ anti-

union policies, they have also been the victims of the industry’s failure to increase pay in line 

with rising profits.  

As a result of the inclusion of hotel managers and proprietors, the mean does not reflect the 

wages earned by the majority of the workforce. In 2017, over 75 per cent of employees in the 

accommodation industry earned below the mean gross hourly wage of £10.4939. The median 

wage was £8.15, just 75p above the National Living Wage40.  

Pay growth 

If we look at mean pay, the accommodation sector has been disproportionately affected by 

the fall in real wages since the beginning of the recession. Between 2008 and 2017, the mean 

hourly wage for employees in the accommodation industry fell by £1.15 in real terms, 

                                                           

36 Table 14.6a, ASHE 2017 (provisional) 
37 Table 14.6a, ASHE 2017 (provisional) 
38 Table 14.6a, ASHE 2012 
39 Table 5.6a, ASHE 2017 (Provisional) 
40 Table 5.6a, ASHE 2017 (Provisional) 

Page 84



 

15 

compared with £0.83 across all industries41. This is a drop of around 10 per cent in the real 

earnings of employees in the accommodation, compared to a 5 per cent drop across all 

employees. While this fall in the mean hourly wage is worth noting, over 75 per cent of 

employees in the accommodation industry are paid wages below the mean.  

Median wages are therefore a more reliable indication of what most employees in the industry 

earn. Between 2008 and 2017, the median hourly wage for those in the accommodation 

industry rose in real terms rose by only 6 pence, from £8.09 to £8.1542. The rising minimum 

wage across this time may have helped to prevent real-terms pay cuts, due to the number of 

employees in the sector who are paid the minimum wage.  

 

The dependence of the accommodation industry on the minimum wage seems to have slightly 

grown between 2008 and 2017.  In 2008, the median hourly wage was 20 per cent (£1.11) 

higher than the National Minimum Wage (NMW) for those 21 and over at the time of the 2008 

ASHE43. By 2017, the gap between median pay and the NMW for those aged 21-24 had shrunk 

to 16 per cent (£1.10). In 2017, the gap between median pay and the National Living Wage for 

those aged 25 and over (introduced in April 2016) was just 9 per cent (£0.65).  

                                                           

41 A comparison of ASHE 2008 and ASHE 2017 (provisional) 
42 A comparison of ASHE 2008 and ASHE 2017 (provisional) 
43 As the 2008 minimum wage rate introduced after the 2008 Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings, we are 

referring here to the 2007 minimum wage.  

Page 85



 

16 

As we have seen, the industry has recovered rapidly since the recession, with a record 

percentage of available rooms being occupied in 2017. Yet the industry’s reliance on the 

minimum wage did not abate, and actually slightly grew, over the same period. 

Real Living Wage 

Despite its name, most employees on the National Living Wage are not paid enough to meet 

their living costs. The real Living Wage, as calculated by the Living Wage Foundation (LWF) and 

KPMG, is a more reliable benchmark, albeit still imperfect, of whether someone is paid enough 

to live on.  

Only around a dozen hotels or B&Bs are accredited by the LWF as Living Wage employers, all 

of which are independent44. Intercontinental Hotels (IHG), owner of the Holiday Inn and 

Crowne Plaza chains, committed to paying the real Living Wage so that they would be eligible 

to become the official supplier of hotels during the 2012 London Olympics. In 2017, after five 

years of failing to keep its promise, IHG finally admitted that it had no intention of paying its 

employees a living wage. Despite growing profits, the company justified its decision by 

referring to ‘rising business costs’45. 

 

                                                           

44 https://www.livingwage.org.uk/accredited-living-wage-employers 
45 https://www.thecaterer.com/articles/514480/ihg-performs-reverse-ferret-on-london-living-wage 

Page 86



 

17 

While some hotel owners, no doubt, are paying some of their workers the real living wage 

without being accredited by the Living Wage Foundation, the TUC’s analysis of ASHE reveals 

that the majority of employees in the industry are paid below the real Living Wage.  

While the ONS does not make all of the data publicly available, the figures for each decile can 

be used to estimate the percentage of employees earning the real Living Wage or below46. 

Across the economy as a whole, this figure has mainly remained within the 20-to-25 per cent 

band between 2011 and 2017. In the accommodation industry, however, between 50 and 60 

per cent of employees earned the real Living Wage or below. This rises into the 60-to-70 per 

cent band in some years47. Despite increases in the National Minimum Wage and the 

introduction of the National Living Wage, the percentage of employees in the accommodation 

industry earning the real Living Wage remained relatively stable between 2011 and 2017.  

Gender inequalities 

On average, women earn less than men in the accommodation industry. This is true of both 

mean and median wages. In 2017, the median hourly wage for a woman working in the 

accommodation sector was £7.97, around 7 per cent less than it was for a man (£8.53).  

The gender gap has narrowed slightly between 2008 and 2017. In 2008, female employees in 

the accommodation sector were paid 10 per cent less than male employees. In real terms, 

median hourly pay decreased for men (-1.4 per cent) and increased for women (+2.7 per cent) 

between 2008 and 201748. This is unlikely to be due to the industry making an active effort to 

improve the gender pay gap. Instead, it may be because more women than men are on the 

minimum wage and women are therefore more likely than men to see their pay rise in line 

with the minimum wage49. 

Gender and the real Living Wage 

Within the accommodation sector, women are less likely than men to receive the Real Living 

Wage. In 2017, between 50 and 60 per cent of men in the accommodation industry earned less 

than the Real Living Wage, compared to between 60 and 70 per cent of women50. This gender 

gap is in line to the pattern for the whole economy, with between 10 and 20 per cent of male 

employees earning less than the real Living Wage, compared to between 20 and 30 per cent of 

female employees. 

                                                           

46 For example, in 2016, 20% of people across all industries earned £8.14 an hour, while 25% earned £8.64. 

Assuming an even distribution between these two points, it is possible to estimate that around 23 per cent 

of employees in the country earned below the Real Living Wage of £8.45 for that year. 
47 ASHE 2017 (provisional) 
48 TUC analysis of ASHE 2008 and ASHE 2017 (provisional) 
49 In 2017, between 30% and 40% of full-time female employees earned the National Living Wage of £7.50 

or less, compared to 25% to 30% of men.   
50 These figures are based on UK-wide wages. As a result, they are an underestimate as they measure the 

wages of the London employees included in the sample against the lower Real Living Wage rather than the 

London Living Wage. 

Page 87



 

18 

The percentage of male employees in the accommodation sector earning the real Living Wage 

has remained in the same range between 2012 and 201751. The rate for female employees has 

been more volatile. The percentage of female employees earning less than the real Living 

Wage reached over three-quarters in 2015. This suggests that women are in a more financially 

precarious position that men within the industry. Given that 90 per cent of single parents with 

dependent children are women, this gender gap is particularly concerning as parents’ financial 

needs may well exceed those that can be provided by a Real Living Wage52.   

Regional inequalities 

A regional breakdown of pay in the accommodation industry reveals that employees tend to 

be paid less in some regions. Several regions have median hourly earnings that are significantly 

less than £8.15, the figure for the UK. Median hourly earnings are particularly low in the North 

East (£7.50), East Midlands (£7.71) and the West Midlands (£7.71).53   

 

Even where median wages are higher than the industry-wide average, this does not necessarily 

mean that employees in the accommodation sector in these regions will benefit from a higher 

standard of living. With median hourly pay of £10.04, earnings for employees in London’s 

accommodation industry are higher than across the rest of the UK.54 However, they remain far 

below the median hourly pay of all employees in London (£16.73). Furthermore, the cost of 

living in the capital is significantly higher than elsewhere. The higher median wage is unlikely to 

                                                           

51 In 2011, the rate was at the very upper end of the 40 to 50 per cent category, with the median employee 

earning £7.23 per hour - just 3p above the real Living Wage of £7.20. 
52 Table 1, Families and Households: 2017, Office for National Statistics 
53 Table 5.1a, ASHE 2017 (Provisional) 
54 ASHE 2017 (Provisional) 

Page 88



 

19 

compensate for this, meaning that employees earning this wage are unlikely to have a higher 

standard of living than those living outside of London.  

Wages in the industry may also be even lower than these figures suggest. While, as discussed 

in the section on methodology, it’s difficult to estimate the wages of outsourced hotel 

workers, outsourced workers are likely to be less well-paid, and less likely to be paid the 

minimum wage, than those who are directly employed. Outsourced workers are also less likely 

to be aware of their rights as a worker in the UK, making them more vulnerable to exploitation 

and lower rate of pay.   

Unite estimates that a typical room attendant in London earns £288 a week, much less than 

the median weekly earnings of an employee in the accommodation sector (£383) according to 

ASHE55. 

While these variations are partly a reflection of regional inequalities in wages across all 

industries, the gap between wages in the accommodation sector and the wider economy is 

greater in some regions. In most regions, the gap between the median hourly earnings in the 

accommodation industry and all employees in the region is around 34 per cent or below, 

matching the gap at the national level. The gap is higher in London (40 per cent) and the North 

East (35 per cent). This relatively limited regional variation is likely to be the result of the 

industry’s dependence on the minimum wage, as employers are paying vast numbers of 

employees the lowest possible wage, regardless of where they are in the country.  

Although the median is generally the most reliable way of measuring the wages earned by 

most people working in the accommodation industry, the mean can also be a useful indication 

of how regional differences affect the pay of those who earn above the minimum wage. 

Nationally, the gap between mean hourly earnings for all employees and for those in the 

accommodation industry is very close to the same as the gap in median full-time wages (35 per 

cent for the mean, compared to 34 per cent for the median). When we look at the mean, 

however, there are more regions where the pay gap between all employees and employees in 

the accommodation sector is larger than the national average. The gap between wages in the 

local economy and the accommodation industry was higher than it was nationally in: 

• London (40 per cent) 

• Wales (39 per cent) 

• the East Midlands (37 per cent) 

• the North East (36 per cent) 

• the South East (36 per cent) 

• Yorkshire and the Humber (36 per cent)56 

                                                           

55 Unethical London, Unite, p.21 
56 Table 5.1a, Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings, 2017 (Provisional) 

Page 89



 

20 

This suggests that wages in the accommodation industry in these regions are not only low by 

national standards, but by regional standards as well.  

Region and the real living wage 

A breakdown of ASHE reveals significant regional inequalities. In all regions except London, the 

South East, and the South West, over 60 per cent of employees in the accommodation industry 

were not paid the Real Living Wage of £8.75 in 2017. In the East Midlands, Wales, and 

Yorkshire and the Humber, the rate was above 70 per cent.   

 

Although the percentage of employees in the accommodation industry across the UK earning 

below the Real Living Wage remained within the 50-60 per cent range between 2011 and 

2017, in some regions it has increased. The starkest example of this can be found in the East 

Midlands, where the percentage of employees in the accommodation industry earning below 

the real Living Wage rose from between 50 and 60 per cent in 2011 to between 70 and 75 per 

cent in 2017. Other areas have seen a less significant rise. Wales has seen a rise in the 

percentage of employees earning below the real Living Wage rise from between 60 and 70 per 

cent in 2011 to between 70 and 75 per cent in 2017.57  

In 2017, between 50 and 60 per cent of employees in the accommodation industry in London 

earned less than the London Living Wage, compared to between 40 and 50 per cent in 2011.58 

While the real Living Wage and the London Living Wage are valuable ways of estimating the 

                                                           

57Comparison of ASHE 2011 and ASHE 2017 (provisional) 
58 Like the Real Living Wage, the London Living Wage is calculated by KPMG on behalf of the Living Wage 

Foundation. As it takes into account the higher cost of living in London, the London Living Wage was set at 

£10.20 in 2017, while the Real Living Wage was £8.75.  

Page 90



 

21 

income needed to meet living costs, these rates may not be sufficient for employees with 

higher living costs. Those with children, for example, will face high childcare costs while 

already struggling to get by on less than the real Living Wage.  

Table 4: Number of employees who earn the Real Living Wage or below (2017) 

Description All employees Employees in the 

accommodation sector 

United Kingdom Between 20 and 25 per cent Between 50 and 60 per cent 

North East Between 25 and 30 per cent Between 60 and 70 per cent 

North West Between 25 and 30 per cent Between 60 and 70 per cent 

Yorkshire and The Humber Between 25 and 30 per cent Between 70 and 75 per cent 

East Midlands Between 25 and 30 per cent Between 70 and 75 per cent 

West Midlands Between 25 and 30 per cent Between 60 and 70 per cent 

East Between 20 and 25 per cent Between 60 and 70 per cent 

London Between 20 and 25 per cent Between 50 and 60 per cent 

South East Between 20 and 25 per cent Between 50 and 60 per cent 

South West Between 20 and 25 per cent Between 50 and 60 per cent 

Wales Between 25 and 30 per cent Between 70 and 75 per cent 

Source: ASHE 2017 (provisional), TUC analysis 

Although these figures show a very high percentage of employees earning below the real 

Living Wage in the capital, they are most likely an underestimate. A survey carried out by Unite 

Hotel Workers Branch revealed that 68 per cent of Unite members in the hotel industry in 

London were paid below the London Living Wage. The rates for some jobs were even higher, 

with 90 per cent of bar staff, 85 per cent of kitchen staff and 80 per cent of kitchen staff 

earning below the London Living Wage59. 

While between 60 and 70 per cent earn below the Real Living Wage in most regions, 

employees in some regions, such as Wales, the East Midlands, and Yorkshire and the Humber, 

are even less likely to earn the real Living Wage.  

                                                           

59 P.5, Unethical London, Unite the Union- London Hotel Workers’ Branch.  

Page 91



 

22 

Age 

When we break down the 2017 ASHE data by age, it’s clear that employees in the 

accommodation industry are less likely than employees across all industries to see their wages 

rise as they become older. While, across the economy, the median hourly wage of those aged 

22 to 29 was 39 per cent higher than those aged 18 to 21, in the accommodation industry it 

was just 15 per cent higher. Similarly, the median hourly wage for employees in their thirties 

was just 11 per cent higher than that of those between the ages of 22 and 29, compared with a 

difference of 28 per cent for the whole workforce.  

As a result of this weaker link between age and wage in the accommodation sector, the gap 

between wages in the industry and the rest of the economy tends to widen with age. While 

the median wage of an employee between the ages of 18 and 21 in the accommodation 

industry is just 9 per cent lower than it is for all employees of the same age, this gap widens to 

25 per cent for those between the ages of 22 and 29.  For those in their thirties, the gap is 

even wider at 35 per cent. It remains similarly high for employees in their 40s and 50s, before 

falling to 25 per cent among employees over 6060. Although most employees can expect their 

wages to grow significantly throughout their career, employees in the accommodation 

industry are not similarly rewarded for their experience.  

 

The scale of this gap is clear when we consider wages on a weekly basis. Across all industries, 

the median wage for an employee in their thirties is £94 a week higher than it is for someone 

between the ages of 22 and 29. In contrast, an accommodation sector employee in their 

thirties earns only £28 a week more than one between the ages of 22 and 29. This doesn’t 

                                                           

60 ASHE 2017 (provisional) 

Page 92



 

23 

improve as employees in the sector move into their forties. Across the workforce, the median 

wage for an employee in their forties was £96 a week higher than someone between the ages 

of 22 and 29. In the accommodation industry, however, employees in their forties still earned 

only £29 a week more than employees between the ages of 22 and 29.   

As a result, employees at the peak of their career in the accommodation industry tend to earn 

less than the median employee in the labour force who has just started their career. The 

median wage for an employee in the accommodation sector peaks in their forties at £346 a 

week. Across all industries, the median full-time employee between the age of 22 and 29 

already earns £400 a week.    

Many in the industry will not see their wages rise as they grow older. 10 to 20 per cent of 

employees in their thirties and forties earn no more than the government’s National Living 

Wage61 62. The situation is even worse for older employees. In 2017, 20 per cent of employees 

over the age of 60 earned the National Living Wage (£7.50) or less. For those in their fifties, 

pay is even worse, with 25 per cent of employees earning the National Living Wage or less. 

It’s true that not all older 

employees have previous 

experience in the 

accommodation industry. 

Employees in the 

accommodation industry do, at 

least in the medium term, seem 

to stay in the hotel sector, with 

90 per cent of employees in 

April 2018 saying they were in 

the same exact same 

occupation 12 months 

previously.63 But older 

employees who have worked in 

other industries would be likely 

to have acquired transferrable 

skills even if they were new to 

the accommodation industry. 

Young workers 

The workforce in the accommodation industry tends to be younger than the rest of the labour 

force. 48 per cent of employees in the industry are under the age of 30, compared to 26 per 

cent of employees across all industries. These employees, particularly those under the age of 

22, tend to be paid very low wages.   

                                                           

61 30-39: 10% of employees earn £7.50 an hour while 20% earn just £0.06 above that.  
62 40-49: 10% of employees earn £7.50 an hour while 20% earn just £0.07 above that.  
63 Main occ refwk, LFS April – June 2018 

Page 93



 

24 

Those under the age of 25 are penalised by the lower minimum wage rates for younger 

employees64. According to the LFS, in July-September 2017, 32 per cent of employees in the 

hotel sector were under the age of 25, meaning that they were too young to be eligible for the 

National Living Wage. 14 per cent of employees were under the age of 21, entitling them to an 

even lower minimum wage rate65.  

Pay for workers under the age of 22 in the accommodation industry is uniformly bad, with 

much less variation in this age group than among older employees. 50 per cent of employees 

in this age range earn no more than £7.10 an hour, while 75 per cent earn no more than £7.85 

an hour. In contrast, 50 per cent of those between the ages of 22 and 29 earn no more than 

£8.14 while 80 per cent earn no more than £9.74.  

This is because the wages of those between the ages of 18 and 21 were more closely linked to 

the national minimum wage. In 2017, 10 per cent of 18 to 21-year olds in the accommodation 

industry earned no more than £5.60 (the 18-20 minimum wage rate), while 40 per cent earned 

no more than the £7.05 (the 21-24 minimum wage rate). Although the different minimum 

wage rates within this age range make it difficult to estimate what percentage of employees 

are on the minimum wage floor, employees in this age group are clearly more likely to be paid 

the minimum wage. 

Similarly, the two different minimum wage rates in the 22-29 age range make it difficult to 

estimate the percentage of employees in the accommodation industry earning no more than 

the minimum wage. The bottom ten per cent of 22-29 year olds earn £7.15 or below, ten 

pence higher than the rate for those between the ages of 21 and 24. The bottom 25 per cent 

of 22-29 year olds earn £7.50 or 

less, while the lowest-earning 

30 per cent earn no more than 

£7.56. Even without a precise 

estimate, it’s clear that a 

significant number of 

employees in this age range 

earn no more than the 

minimum wage.   

Pay since 2008 

Each age range has seen a 

different trend in wages since 

the recession. Employees in the 

two youngest age brackets, as 

well as the oldest age bracket, 

saw their real wages rise slightly between 2008 and 2017. This is most likely the result of 

younger employees’ dependence on the minimum wage, which has been rising faster than pay 

                                                           

64 https://www.gov.uk/national-minimum-wage-rates 
65 LFS, July-September 2017 

Page 94



 

25 

in general. Those in their thirties, forties and fifties saw wages fall in real terms between 2008 

and 201766. 

 

Age and the real Living Wage 

Lower pay amongst younger employees in the accommodation industry means that they are 

significantly less likely than older employees to earn the real Living Wage of £8.75. The 2017 

ASHE shows that 80 per cent of all employees in the accommodation industry between the 

ages of 18 and 21 earn £8 an hour or less.  

Although pay is higher for those between the ages of 22 and 29, between 60 and 70 per cent 

of employees in this age bracket still earn less than the real Living Wage. Even though 

employees in their thirties and forties are the most likely to be earning the Real Living Wage, 

between 40 and 50 per cent of employees in this age range are paid less. Between 50 and 60 

per cent of those over the age of 50 earn below the real Living Wage. While this percentage 

has been unchanged for those over the 60, those in their fifties were less likely to be paid the 

real Living Wage in 2017 than in 2011.  Apart from this exception, the data shows few changes 

                                                           

66 ASHE 2008-2017 (provisional) 

Page 95



 

26 

in the percentages earning the real Living Wage when compared to 2011, the year in which it 

was launched.  

These figures suggest that the introduction of the government’s National Living Wage, though 

to some extent cushioning the most badly paid employees from the effect of falling pay, has 

failed to increase income to the extent that more employees earn the real Living Wage. While 

the then Chancellor, George Osbourne, launched the policy as part of a strategy to create a 

‘low-tax, high-pay economy’, poverty pay still blights low-paid sectors such as accommodation. 

It does not seem to have encouraged employers to offer pay rises to those above the National 

Living Wage, leaving the percentage of employees earning below the real Living Wage 

unchanged between 2011 and 2017.  

In short, vast numbers of employers in the accommodation industry are being paid wages that 

would not cover basic living costs. Young employees are being hit the hardest, yet they have 

not been helped by the government’s flawed attempts to introduce a ‘living wage’. 

Full-time and part-time 

wages 

Part-time workers tend to be paid even 

less than full-time workers. The median 

hourly wage is £8.98 for full-time 

employees, compared with £7.50 for 

part-time employees. There is a 

narrower range of wages earned by 

part-time employees than by full-time 

employees, with 80 per cent of part-

time employees being paid at or below 

£8.66 an hour, compared to £12.81 for 

full-time employees.  

Median hourly earnings for full-time 

employees in the accommodation 

sector have grown by around 3 per cent (£0.25p) in real terms between 2008 and 2017. Real 

hourly earnings for part-time employees have grown slightly more, by around 6 per cent 

(£0.41p) between 2008 and 2017. This is probably the effect of a rising minimum wage and the 

introduction of the National Living Wage.  

There’s a smaller gap between full-time and part-time wages in the accommodation industry 

than across the whole economy. Across the labour force, those who work part-time are paid 

35 per cent less per hour than those who work full time. In the accommodation sector, part-

time employees are paid 17 per cent less per hour than full-time employees67.  

This reflects the very low level of full-time wages in the sector. The median wage of a full-time 

worker in the accommodation industry is only £8.98 an hour, lower than the median part-time 

                                                           

67 ASHE 2017 (provisional) 

Page 96



 

27 

hourly wage for all workers (£9.12). Both median full-time and part-time wages for all 

employees are above the real Living Wage of £8.45 an hour. In contrast, the median part-time 

wage in the accommodation industry is only £7.50.  

Work patterns and the real Living Wage 

Although part-time employees do the same work as full-time employees in the 

accommodation industry, they are significantly less likely to earn the real Living Wage. 

Between 40 and 50 per cent of full-time employees in the accommodation sector earned 

below the real Living Wage in 2017, whereas for part-time employees it was over 80 per cent. 

While it’s understandable that employees are rewarded with higher wages when they are 

more experienced, it cannot be right that they need a certain level of experience before they 

are able to earn a living wage. With 80 per cent of part-time employees in the accommodation 

industry earning less than the real Living Wage, it seems likely that part-time employees are 

paid less than their full-time colleagues even when they are just as experienced.  

The real Living Wage is based on the assumption that employees will work full-time. In the 

hotel sector, 22 per cent of those working part-time do so because they have been unable to 

find a full-time job68. These employees have to try to meet the same living costs as those in 

full-time work, but with a part-time wage. There will also be employees who work part time 

because they need to look after their children. Their costs will likely be even greater than a 

full-time employee without children, yet they must try to meet them with a part-time wage. 

The fact that part-time employees are considerably less likely than full-time employees to be 

paid the real Living Wage is particularly concerning, not least because it may be having a 

serious impact on their ability to maintain basic living standards.  

National Minimum Wage non-payment 

In 2017, an estimated 69,000 employees in the accommodation and food services industry 

were paid below the minimum wage, second only to the wholesale, retail & motor trade in 

terms of numbers. No other industry had a higher percentage (4.3 per cent) of underpaid 

employees.69  

There is some evidence that non-payment has become more common in recent years. ONS 

figures show the rate of employees not being paid the minimum wage rose in the year after 

the introduction of the National Living Wage in 2016, with the rate of non-payment jumping 

from 2.3 per cent to 4.3 per cent between 2015 and 201770. This increase is higher than in 

other low-paid industries, such as in wholesale and retail, which rose by a half a percentage 

point, or administrative and support services, where non-payment rose by one percentage 

point71.  

                                                           

68 Quarterly LFS, July-September 2017, ONS 
69 Table 2a, Jobs paid below minimum wage by category, Office for National Statistics (2017) 
70 Table 2a, Jobs paid below minimum wage by category, Office for National Statistics (2017) 
71 Table 2a, Jobs paid below minimum wage by category, Office for National Statistics (2017) 

Page 97



 

28 

 

Although the 2017 ASHE figures do not show the breakdown of these figures into the 

accommodation industry alone, the HMRC’s figures on enforcement show that the 

accommodation industry is one of the worst in the economy for underpaying workers. In 

2016/2017, HMRC closed 72 cases of companies in the accommodation industry failing to pay 

the minimum wage. These affected 2,130 workers, who were underpaid by a total of 

£610,356, averaging around £287 each. HMRC only identified a higher number of cases of 

underpayment in five other industries, three of which are significantly larger than the 

accommodation industry72. There’s been an increase in 2018, with 92 cases of companies 

failing to pay the minimum wage, underpayment of around £1.4 million, and 4,840 workers 

affected73.  

Many of these cases result in fines for the companies involved. In 2016/2017, the HMRC issued 

62 fines for non-payment of the minimum wage in the accommodation industry. This is 

significantly higher than the majority of industries, with 88 out of 99 industries issued with 

fewer than 10 fines. In fact, the accommodation industry had the third highest number of fines 

that year. Although this was a higher than usual number of fines for the industry, it was not 

wildly out of step with previous years. With 233 fines issued to companies in the 

accommodation industry between 2011/12 and 2016/2017, it was the fifth most-fined 

industry. All but one of the industries with a higher number of fines had larger a workforce 

than the accommodation industry.  

                                                           

72https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6301

97/nmw-nlw-lpc-evidence-compliance-enforcement-2017.pdf 
73https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7426

68/nmw-nlw-enforcement-compliance-report-2018.pdf 

Page 98



 

29 

 

Some of those who have been issued with fines for non-payment of the minimum wage have 

been named under the Department of Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy’s ‘naming and 

shaming’. The accommodation industry feature prominently on these lists. While most of the 

hotels named by BEIS have been independent, Marriott Hotels was named under the scheme 

in March 2018. The chain was found to have underpaid 279 workers by £71,722.93 in total, 

making it the second worst offender74. 

If, as the ONS estimates, 69,000 workers in the accommodation and food services industry 

were earning below the minimum wage in 2017, then HMRC are clearly only identifying a 

fraction of underpaid workers in the industry.75 Given the scale of the problem, it also seems 

likely that major hotel chains other than Marriott are paying workers below the minimum 

wage. A survey carried out amongst Unite the Union’s members in the hotel industry in 

London revealed that 36 per cent of front of house staff were owed wages for hours they had 

worked, including those at major hotel chains.  

Unpaid overtime and the minimum wage 

While some companies break the law by paying rates that are explicitly below the minimum 

wage, there are other less obvious ways of underpaying workers.  

Unpaid overtime is a particular problem in the accommodation industry. A worker on the 

minimum wage will be underpaid if they work any amount of unpaid overtime. If a worker on 

the minimum wage works for 8 hours but is only paid for 7 of those, the amount they earn per 

hour of work would be less than the minimum wage. Even those on higher wages could also 

end up being paid less than the legal minimum if forced to work longer without extra pay. 

                                                           

74 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/nearly-200-employers-named-and-shamed-for-underpaying-

thousands-of-minimum-wage-workers 

 

Page 99



 

30 

Those earning the industry’s median wage of £8.15 for 9 hours a day would end up with an 

average hourly wage below the National Living Wage if they were made to work just an extra 

50 minutes a day.   

A survey carried out by Unite’s Hotel Workers’ Branch has shown that unpaid overtime is the 

norm for most hotel employees in London. A third of front of house staff (concierge, doormen 

and reception) frequently work after the official end of their shift without being paid for 

working more than their contracted hours. Chefs are particularly affected. Forty-seven per 

cent of chefs said that they regularly started work before their official start time for no extra 

pay, while a similar percentage undertake unpaid overtime at the end of their shift76. 

Some standard practices in the industry make unpaid overtime inevitable. While it is illegal for 

housekeepers to be paid per room rather than per hour worked, hotel companies often set 

unrealistic targets, forcing workers to stay after their shift if they cannot finish in time. A 

recent Dispatches documentary, for example, showed how housekeepers at the London Bridge 

branch of Premier Inn were set a target of cleaning three rooms an hour. This does not take 

into account the state of the room or how many beds need to be made. As a result, 

housekeepers were forced to work extra hours to finish the rooms without being paid. While 

Premier Inn have blamed the contractor for this practice, the target used by the contractor 

came from the hotel chain’s own cleaning manual.  

Managers in the accommodation sector are seemingly using unpaid overtime to deny their 

workers the wages to which they are entitled.  

The issue of unpaid overtime will be addressed in more detail in our second report on the 

hotel industry, to be published in early 2019.  

  

                                                           

76 P.8, Unethical London, Hotel Workers’ Branch 

Page 100



 

31 

Conclusion 

Hotels have failed to share the profits of their booming businesses with their workforce. 

Despite the industry’s rapid recovery after the recession, median earnings barely rose in real 

terms between 2008 and 2017. Pay in the industry is so low that over half of employees in the 

industry earn below the real Living Wage, with the number of employees not earning a living 

wage higher among: 

• Younger age groups 

• Part-time employees 

• Women 

• Workers in some regions 

With low pay the norm in the sector, it’s perhaps unsurprising that it’s one of the worst 

industries for illegally underpaying employees. While official statistics estimate that 4.2 per 

cent of employees in the industry were paid wages below the National Minimum Wage in 

2017, evidence from unions suggest that this figure could be significantly higher.  

Those working in the accommodation sector deserve great jobs that pay fairly. Fair pay is one 

of the standards of the TUC’s Great Jobs Agenda. We want the government to increase the 

national minimum wage to £10 as quickly as possible, and for this to include 21- to 25-year-

olds. Due to the prevalence of low pay in the accommodation sector, with median pay for all 

employees being £8.15 per hour, this would improve the pay of many employees in the sector.  

Employees in the hotel sector also need a voice at work. As part of the Great Jobs Agenda, we 

want employers to: 

Recognise a trade union for collective bargaining on pay and conditions 

Set out how they’ll consult the whole workplace on important decisions 

Have elected workers on company boards 

Each of these would help to improve the pay of workers in the hotel sector, as well as lead to 

fairer distribution of the profits currently being enjoyed by the CEOs and boards of directors of 

hotel chains.  

You can read more about the Great Jobs Agenda77 online. It also covers issues such as health 

and safety in the workplace and the right to be treated decently. These issues will be discussed 

further in regards to the hotel industry in our second report on the industry, to be published in 

early 2019. 

 

                                                           

77 https://www.tuc.org.uk/sites/default/files/The_Great_Jobs_Agenda_2017_AW_Digital.pdf 

Page 101

https://www.tuc.org.uk/sites/default/files/The_Great_Jobs_Agenda_2017_AW_Digital.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 102



To: 

Embargo: 00.01hrs Monday 17 December 2018 

TUC press office: 020 7467 1248   

Real wages still down in 31 of London’s 

33 local authorities, TUC analysis 

reveals 

• Redbridge has suffered the biggest hit to real wages

• Average London worker has lost more than £20,000 in real earnings

since 2008

• UK has suffered worst real wage slump among leading economies

Pay packets are still worth less in 31 of London’s 33 local authority areas, according to new 

analysis published by the TUC today (Monday). 

The analysis shows which parts of the capital have suffered the biggest hit to real wages 

(wages once the cost of living has been taken into account) since the crash. 

People working in Redbridge have the most ground to make up. They are still earning 34% 

less in real terms than a decade ago – the equivalent of £181 a week. 

The next worst is Barnet (-24%), followed by Newham (-20%) and Hackney (-20%). 

There have been sharp falls across the capital both in poor and affluent areas. 

Only two London local authorities – Southwark and Merton – have seen the value of wages 

recover. 

The worst pay squeeze in 200 years 

The analysis shows that as a result of pay not keeping pace with the cost of living, the 

average worker in London has lost out on £20,390 in real earnings since 2008.  

UK workers are suffering the longest real wage squeeze in more than 200 years, with average 

pay packets not set to recover to their 2008 level until 2024. 

The UK is only of two advanced economies (along with Italy) where real wages are still lower 

than a decade ago. 

TUC Regional Secretary Sam Gurney said: 

“The government has failed to tackle Britain’s cost of living crisis. As a result many families 

across London will be worse off this Christmas than a decade ago. 

“While pay packets have recovered in most leading economies, wage growth in the UK is 

stuck in the slow lane.   

Appendix 3 

Page 103



“Ministers need to wake up and get wages rising faster. This means giving all public sector 

workers the pay rise they have earned and giving unions the right to bargain in more 

workplaces. 

“And it means boosting the minimum wage to £10 an hour as soon as possible.” 

ENDS 

Notes to editors: 

Real wage growth by North West local authority since 2008 

Local authority 2008 

(real) 

2018 

(real) 

% 

change 

£ 

change 

Redbridge 535 354 -34 -181 

Barnet 513 398 -23 -116 

Newham 568 452 -20 -116 

Hackney 674 541 -20 -133 

Sutton 502 413 -18 -89 

Barking and 

Dagenham 

582 479 -18 -103 

Hillingdon 625 517 -17 -109 

Brent 525 435 -17 -90 

Harrow 490 409 -16 -81 

Richmond upon 

Thames 

593 503 -15 -90 

Enfield 474 409 -14 -65 

Bromley 467 408 -13 -59 

Camden 746 655 -12 -91 

Ealing 556 491 -12 -65 

Waltham Forest 497 441 -11 -56 

Tower Hamlets 911 808 -11 -103 

Islington 750 669 -11 -81 

Lambeth 655 585 -11 -71 

Kensington and 

Chelsea 

596 537 -10 -60 

Haringey 501 460 -8 -41 

Greenwich 534 493 -8 -41 

City of London 1058 977 -8 -81 

Hammersmith and 

Fulham 

721 671 -7 -50 

Lewisham 500 467 -6 -32 

Page 104



Havering 489 460 -6 -29 

Wandsworth 579 546 -6 -34 

Croydon 526 502 -5 -24 

Westminster 744 715 -4 -30 

Kingston upon Thames 484 473 -2 -10 

Bexley 455 449 -1 -6 

Hounslow 551 549 0 -2 

Southwark 668 671 0 3 

Merton 427 460 8 33 

Source: ONS Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings  

Cumulative real wage loss by UK region/nation 2008-2018 

Region/nation  £ loss 

North East  -£4,890 

North West  -£14,230 

Yorkshire and The 

Humber  
-£12,680 

East Midlands  -£12,920 

West Midlands  -£9,220 

East of England -£11,470 

London  -£20,390 

South East  -£13,590 

South West  -£14,420 

Wales  -£7,100 

Scotland  -£6,180 

Northern Ireland  -£7,270 

United Kingdom  -£11,840 

Source: ONS Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings  

- A full list of all local authorities can be found here: https://tinyurl.com/y9x3pbbw  

- Real wage drops in each local authority were calculated by finding the difference between 

median Average Weekly Earnings (AWE) for all workers in each LA in the Annual Survey of 

Hours and Earnings (ASHE) 2008 and ASHE 2018. The percentage change is a change from 

the 2008 figure. 2008 wages were adjusted to take inflation into account (CPI, April 

2018=100). Only local authorities with available data in 2008 and 2018 were used.  

- The cumulative real wage loss figures were found by adding up the difference in median 

AWE for all workers ASHE2008 and each subsequent year. Figures for 2008-2017 were 

adjusted into 2018 prices (CPI, April 2018=100). 

- The Trades Union Congress (TUC) exists to make the working world a better place for 

everyone. We bring together more than 5.5 million working people who make up our 49 

member unions. We support unions to grow and thrive, and we stand up for everyone who 

works for a living. 

Page 105

https://tinyurl.com/y9x3pbbw


Contacts: 

Tim Nichols 

tnichols@tuc.org.uk 

020 7467 1388 

07808 761844 

Alex Rossiter 

arossiter@tuc.org.uk 

020 7467 1285 

07887 572130 

TUC press office 

media@tuc.org.uk 

020 7467 1248 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 106

mailto:arossiter@tuc.org.uk
mailto:arossiter@tuc.org.uk


 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  
Report to: Economy Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 18 June 2019  
 

This report will be considered in public  

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out recent action taken by the previous Chairman of the Economy Committee under 

delegated authority. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the action taken by the previous Chairman of the Economy 

Committee under delegated authority, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, 

namely to agree a letter to the Mayor about tackling London’s disability employment gap 

and the letter attached at Appendix 1. 

 

2.2 That the Committee notes the response to the letter from the Mayor attached at  

Appendix 2 of the report. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 Under Standing Orders and the Assembly’s Scheme of Delegation, certain decisions by Members can 

be taken under delegated authority.  This report details those actions. 

  

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1      On 17 January 2019, the Economy Committee resolved:  

 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, to 

agree an output from the discussion. 

 

4.2 A letter was sent to the Mayor of London on 21 March 2019 examining the challenges faced by 

Londoners with disabilities seeking work or to make progress in their career. A copy of the letter sent 

is attached as Appendix 1. 

Page 107

Agenda Item 6



        

4.3 A link to the Committee’s findings can be found here.1 

 

4.4 The Mayor responded to the letter on 20 May 2019. A copy of the letter is attached at Appendix 2. 

 

 

 5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 – Committee’s letter to the Mayor, dated 21 March 2019 

Appendix 2 – Mayoral response, dated 20 May 2019 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  

Member Delegated Authority Forms 1035 [Disability Employment Gap] 

Contact Officer:  Clare Bryant, Committee Officer 

Telephone:  020 7983 4616 

E-mail:  clare.bryant@london.gov.uk 

 

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/tackling-londons-disability-
employment-gap 

Page 108

mailto:https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/tackling-londons-disability-employment-gap
mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/tackling-londons-disability-employment-gap
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/tackling-londons-disability-employment-gap


Economy Committee 

City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 

London SE1 2AA 

Switchboard: 020 7983 4000 

Minicom: 020 7983 4458 

Web:  www.london.gov.uk 

21 March 2019 

Dear Mr Mayor, 

Tackling London’s disability employment gap 

Over the past few months the Economy Committee has undertaken a range of activities to 

examine the challenges faced by Londoners with disabilities seeking work or to make better 

progress in their careers.   

Despite the increase in London’s overall employment rate, only around half of all disabled 

Londoners are in work, with 1 in 10 self-employed. Despite being lower than in the UK as a 

whole, the employment gap between Londoners with and without a disability is stuck at around 

27 percentage points. The findings from our review are set out in the attached document.1 

We have identified a number of interventions through which you can help tackle the disability 

employment gap in London.  

A Disability Employment Taskforce for London 

We heard from experts in disability employment and disabled Londoners themselves that it was 

important for the Mayor of London and City Hall to speak up for London’s 1.2 million deaf and 

disabled people, as well as to lead by example in this space. We therefore support the Social 

Market Foundation and Trust for London’s call for the Mayor to constitute a Disability 

Employment Taskforce. The Taskforce should be comprised of representatives from disability 

charities (including Deaf and Disabled People’s Organisations), service providers, central and 

local Government and disabled people themselves. However, in setting up this taskforce, we 

heard that it would be important for all the existing groups and task forces to be brought into 

1  https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/tackling-londons-
disability-employment-gap 

Susan Hall AM  

Chairman of the Economy Committee 

Sent via email 

Appendix 1

Page 109

http://www.london.gov.uk/
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/tackling-londons-disability-employment-gap
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/tackling-londons-disability-employment-gap


 
Economy Committee 
 

that so that we do not reinvent the wheel. It would be a centre of expertise and knowledge 

sharing that would drive and stimulate actions to support disabled people into work and 

progress while in work. It would advise the Mayor and central and local Government on the best 

way to tackle the disability employment gap, and support employers and employees to create 

inclusive workplaces where people of all abilities and talents can flourish.  

 

We would ask you to chair the inaugural meeting of the Disability Employment Taskforce to 

show your commitment to supporting good quality employment opportunities for disabled 

Londoners. 

 

The Taskforce’s priorities should be to: 

• Investigate why some London boroughs have seen an increase in the disability 

employment gap in recent years 

• Provide strategic guidance on the best ways for the Adult Education Budget to support 

disabled Londoners to access the right education and skills opportunities; 

• Facilitate more joined up thinking between the Department for Work and Pensions 

programmes and Adult Education providers to ensure that disabled people are better 

able to access the skills they need to secure and progress in employment 

• Encourage local disability peer networks that cover more than one organisation. 

 

The Growth Hub 

In 2017, 88,000 disabled Londoners were self-employed. This is one in ten disabled Londoners, 

and research from the Resolution Foundation found that disabled people account for one of 

the largest groups moving into work over the last few years but are moving into self-employed, 

low-paid roles.  In light of this, the LEAP should provide more support to enable disabled 

entrepreneurs to flourish and earn a living wage in London. 

  

The LEAP should create a distinct space on its Growth Hub website offering guidance to 

disabled people on self-employment. The guidance should be fully accessible. It should look to 

sponsor workshops  to support disabled entrepreneurs, targeting their specific needs. This could 

take a similar format to the newly created programme of events for black, Asian and minority 

ethnic groups and Female Founders.  

 

Small businesses face extra barriers to hiring disabled people and need guidance as they may 

not have a Human Resources structure to advise them on how to employ and make adjustments 

for disabled employees, and other positive actions they can take to make a difference.  The 

LEAP should use the Growth Hub to actively promote the work of companies such as the 

Disability Business Forum, which provides help and guidance to businesses on hiring disabled 

people.   

 

Page 110



 
Economy Committee 
 

We welcome the creation of the Greater London Investment Fund and would like to see funding 

allocated specially to disabled entrepreneurs wishing to scale up. In addition, part of the 

London SME Fund should reflect London's diversity and be dedicated to disabled 

entrepreneurs.  

 

Good work standard 

During our investigation we heard that employers have not adjusted sufficiently to the needs of 

disabled people in London. A lot of the barriers to work we heard about are linked to a lack of 

good employment practices or inclusive workplaces. 

 

Your Good Work Standard (GWS) will support employers to adopt best practice and achieve 

high standards in areas such as flexible working, diversity and inclusion, health and wellbeing 

and training. The Standard should help reduce London’s disability employment gap by 

supporting employers to provide more accessible and flexible employment.We would like you to 

use the GWS to engage actively employers with London’s disability employment gap.  

 

Finally, following the London Assembly Education Panel’s recommendation on supported 

internship, we welcome the recent announcement from GLA’s Chief Officer that we will be 

setting up a supported internship programme. The evidence shows that supported internships 

do really good work and have excellent results in getting people into work. We hope to see our 

first supported interns working in City Hall and Union Street in the not-too-distant future.  

 

We would be grateful to receive your response to this letter by 2 May 2019. Please also send 

your response by email to the committee’s clerk, Clare.Bryant@london.gov.uk. 

 

Yours Sincerely,  

 

 

Susan Hall 

Chairman, London Assembly Economy Committee 

 

 

Page 111

mailto:Clare.Bryant@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 112



MAYOR OF LONDON

Susan Hall AM Our Ref: MGLA21O3J9-8468
Assembly Member
City Hall
The Queen’s Walk Date: 20 MAY 2019
London SE1 2M

Thank you for your letter of 27 March about tackling London’s disability employment gap. I am
sorry for the delay in responding to you.

I welcome the committee’s work on this important topic. It is a valuable contribution to the
discussion around how to address the size of the disability employment gap. My officers are already
actively working on issues identified by the report.

Work is ongoing and collaborative engagement is underway with DWP, Jobcentre Plus and
London’s boroughs to consider how City Hall, working with key stakeholders, can better support
disabled Londoners into good quality employment opportunities. I met with representatives from
London’s Deaf and Disabled People’s Organisations (DDPOs) on 2 April. Key to our discussions was
collaboration with disabled Londoners and DDPOs on issues including disability employment. We
will continue to prioritise this through my Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Advisory Group, which
includes members with expertise on addressing a range of issues for deaf and disabled groups.

Priorities and actions for addressing the disability employment gap will be set out in my
forthcoming Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) for London and Skills and Employment Vision, which
will make the case to government for future funding and devolution. This work is being steered by
my Skills for Londoners (SfL) Board and SfL Business Partnership. Consultation and engagement
activity is underway with a range of networks such as DDPOs and disability charities to help inform
the LIS and Vision priorities. As part of this, City Hall will also work with key stakeholders including
DDPOs to review the London Assembly’s recommendations to determine how best to tackle and
share good practice in reducing the disability employment rate across London.

The London Economic Action Partnership (LEAP), which I chair, hosted a series of roundtables
between September 2078 and March 207 9. These roundtables have helped to identify the key
challenges being faced by diverse entrepreneurs in the capital when starting and running their
businesses and have also provided LEAP with recommendations to be implemented in future
programmes to ensure inclusivity across the support we deliver or commission.

In addition to the roundtables with black women entrepreneurs and Asian and Middle Eastern
entrepreneurs, as mentioned in your letter, we also held a roundtable with disabled entrepreneurs
on 5 March 207 9, where we were able to speak with disabled entrepreneurs from a range of
sectors. From this roundtable, we identified that key issues for disabled entrepreneurs include a
lack of access to affordable and accessible workspace, funding opportunities and programmes that
also cater to the needs of disabled entrepreneurs.

City Hall, London, SE7 2AA • mayorlondon.gov.uk • london.gov.uk • 020 7983 4000

Appendix 2

Page 113



MAYOR OF LONDON
On 13 March, LEAP brought together the roundtable attendees and other diverse entrepreneurs
for a ‘Diverse Entrepreneurs Summit’ (DES), which was attended by both myself and my Deputy
Mayor for Business, Rajesh Agrawal. This was an opportunity to highlight what LEAP is already
doing to implement recommendations, as well as provide the attendees with an opportunity to
network with support providers and likeminded entrepreneurs, which was a key recommendation
from all three roundtables.

We are now working on implementing recommendations into our new programmes, as part of our
forward planning in the new financial year.

The Economic Development team (who also lead on the Good Work Standard) has been holding
follow-up meetings with the support networks that came to the disabled entrepreneurs’ roundtable
to discuss potential ways of following up on the roundtable recommendations. These have
included:

- Exploring whether we should have workshops within our existing programmes specifically for
deaf entrepreneurs. This is something that we are testing in a workshop format ahead of the
launch of our next round of programmes in the autumn.

- The London Growth Hub publishes monthly blogs on business support, and two of the
organisations we have met with will be authoring guest blogs that will be published over the
next few months, on supporting disabled entrepreneurs.

- We have connected these support providers with other Greater London Authority teams, so
that they can feed into other initiatives that support disabled entrepreneurs as well as other
Londoners with disabilities that are looking for work or to progress their career.

- The Economic Development team is working on an action plan based on the recommendations
from the roundtables, DES and follow up meetings, and will be using this plan to implement
recommendations received in to future support programmes and events across the team. We
have also begun research in to resources and support that can be signposted through the
London Growth Hub website. For example, information on how businesses can support
disabled employees.

As you mention, my Good Work Standard contains and will encourage employers to take up best
practice to improve London’s disability employment gap, ranging from ensuring they adhere to
basic legal requirements to excellent practices such as offering supported internships. The Good
Work Standard has been designed with a broad range of stakeholder input to ensure it can support
and be achieved by employers of all types, sizes and sectors in London. While we already have
support from a wide variety of organisations and employers, my officials and I will be engaging as
many employers as possible to sign up, achieve the benchmark and become accredited, in the
weeks to come.

Yours sincerely,

Sadiq Khan
Mayor of London

City Hall. London, SE1 2AA • mayor@london.gov.uk • london.gov.uk • 020 7983 4000Page 114



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Outsourcing and Procurement in 
London 
Report to: Economy Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 18 June 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public  

 
 

 

1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report provides background information for the Economy Committee meeting on outsourcing 

and procurement London.  

 

 

2. Recommendations 

 

2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to the discussion with invited guests 

on outsourcing and procurement in London and notes the subsequent discussion. 

 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree an output from the meeting. 

 

 

3. Background   
 

3.1 According to the TUC, there are 3.3 million outsourced workers in the UK.1 Due to the difficulties in 

collecting such data, there are no firm figures on the number of people working in outsourcing 

agencies in London.   

 

3.2 These workers often find themselves in precarious circumstances without the same rights, benefits, 

and pay of directly employed staff.  

 

3.3 Recently there have been a number of campaigns which have highlighted the situations faced by 

outsourced workers working at institutions ranging from universities to hospitals. Some of the 

outsourced workers have had to rely on foodbanks, which shows the hardship suffered of working 

on low wages.  

 

3.4 However, there have also been positive steps taken by boroughs in London to respond to the 

challenges associated with outsourcing, and provide best practice examples of good procurement 

policy, particularly to encourage jobs and training opportunities. For example, in 2015 Southwark 

                                                 
1
 https://www.tuc.org.uk/news/tuc-calls-employers-be-made-liable-abuses-uk-supply-chains  

Page 115

Agenda Item 7

https://www.tuc.org.uk/news/tuc-calls-employers-be-made-liable-abuses-uk-supply-chains


        

Council undertook a review of their procurement activity, with a view to achieve three primary 

outcomes: 

 Save money;  

 Improve services; and 

 Improve social outcomes from procurement. 

 

3.5 In 2017 the Mayor directed the Greater London Authority (GLA) Group to update its Responsible 

Procurement Policy2. This policy provides a framework to ensure that decisions taken by members of 

the GLA Group on the procurement of goods, works or services are undertaken in line with 

commitments to: 

 Enhancing social value; 

 Encouraging equality and diversity; 

 Embedding fair employment practices; 

 Enabling skills, training and employment opportunities; 

 Promoting ethical sourcing practices; and 

 Improving environmental sustainability.3 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration 

 

4.1.  At this meeting, Members will hold a public meeting with invited guests. The following areas will be  

covered:  

 Why organisations outsource, and explore the impacts such decisions have on Londoners;  

 Whether employment rights protections – Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) 

Regulations 2006 specifically – apply to workers in outsourcing organisations; 

 The challenges associated with procurement; 

 Good commissioning procurement practice standards and how they benefit workers;  

 The experiences of low paid workers; and 

 The role of Mayor in ensuring best practice examples of good procurement are followed. 

 

4.2.  Expert guests have been invited to attend the meeting. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 

 

 

                                                 
2 https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_group_rpp_v7.12_final_template_for_web.pdf  
3 https://www.london.gov.uk/decisions/md2019-gla-group-responsible-procurement-policy  

Page 116

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_group_rpp_v7.12_final_template_for_web.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/decisions/md2019-gla-group-responsible-procurement-policy


        

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

None. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None                                      

 

Contact Officer:  Aida Selmanovic, Senior Policy Adviser 

Telephone: 020 7983 2963  

E-mail: aida.selmanovic@london.gov.uk    

 

Page 117

mailto:aida.selmanovic@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 118



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Economy Committee Work Programme  
 

Report to: Economy Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 18 June 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out the initial work programme for the Economy Committee for the remainder of the 

2019/20 Assembly year. 

 

 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the work programme for the remainder of the 2019/2020 

Assembly year. 

 

 

3. Background 
 
3.1 At the Annual Meeting of the Assembly on 2 May 2019, meeting slots for the Economy Committee 

for the 2019/20 Assembly Year were agreed (the provisional slots are set out overleaf).  The 

Committee may choose to use the meeting slots for formal meetings, site visits, informal meetings or 

other engagement activities.  

 

Page 119

Agenda Item 8



        

 

Date Topic 

 

18 June 2019  Low-paid work and in-work poverty in London – 

Outsourcing and Procurement in London  

 

9 July 2019  Skills for the future  

 

10 September 2019  Skills for the future: tech, renewables, and other new 

sustainable jobs 

 

29 October 2019 Supporting working parents  

 

19 November 2019 London’s retail sector  

 

19 December 2019 Food poverty and malnutrition  

 

14 January 2020 Co-operatives’ work delivering in the public sector and 

boosting the local economy  

 

25 February 2020 

 

Impact of Brexit on London’s economy  

 

19 March 2020 

 

Brexit and London’s businesses 

 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
  

4.1 At its meeting on 8 April 2019, the GLA Oversight Committee agreed the topics for the Committee’s 

first two meetings in May and June 2019. 

 

Low-paid work and in-work poverty in London 

4.2 The Committee will use its first two meeting slots to look at low-paid work and in-work poverty in 

London. The first meeting focused on the indicators of low-paid work and in-work poverty. The 

Mayor of London has different policy levers and programmes at his disposable to lift people out of 

work poverty and improve London’s standards of living, including through his Economic 

Development Strategy, the recently devolved Adult Education Budget, and his newly developed 

Good Work Standard. The second meeting will focus on outsourcing and procurement. The Mayor of 

London introduced the GLA Group Responsible Procurement Policy in 2017, with the intention that 

the GLA’s Group’s extensive public procurement of products and services delivers lasting positive 

change.  

 

 Work Programme for the Remainder of the Assembly Year 

4.3 Other topics for investigation will be added to the work programme during the year.  

 

4.4 As in previous years, the Committee may wish to use some of its meeting slots to undertake site 

visits, hold roundtables and receive briefings to support its scrutiny work. 

Page 120



        

5. Legal Implications 

 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 
6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: None. 

  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer:  Aida Selmanovic, Senior Policy Adviser  

Telephone:  020 7983 2963 

E-mail:  aida.selmanovic@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 121

mailto:aida.selmanovic@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 122


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	4 Minutes
	a1 - Transcript of Item 8 - Low-paid Work and In-work Poverty in London
	Appendix 2 - Trust for London presentation, 07/05/2019 Economy Committee

	5 Summary List of Actions
	Appendix 1-  Response to info request
	Appendix 2 - No stars - low pay in the accommodation sector
	Appendix 3 - London

	6 Action Taken under Delegated Authority
	Letter to the Mayor_Disability Employment gap
	Mayoral response to disability emplyment

	7 Outsourcing and Procurement in London
	8 Economy Committee Work Programme

